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STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
ROY COOPER J. ERIC BOYETTE

GOVERNOR SECRETARY

Mailing Address:
NC DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
TURNPIKE AUTHORITY
1578 MAIL SERVICE CENTER
RALEIGH, NC 27699-1578

Telephone: (919) 707-2700
Fax: (919) 715-5511

Customer Service: 1-877-368-4968

Website: ncdot.gov

Location:
1 SOUTH WILMINGTON STREET

RALEIGH, NC 27601

October 30, 2020 

J. Eric Boyette, Secretary
North Carolina Department of Transportation
1 S. Wilmington Street
Raleigh, North Carolina 27601

Dear Secretary Boyette: 

The Finance Department of the North Carolina Turnpike Authority (“NCTA” or “Authority”) is 
pleased to submit the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2020. The enclosed report reflects management’s representation of NCTA’s finances and serves to 
highlight the Authority’s achievements over the last fiscal year as well as our ongoing commitment 
to supporting North Carolina’s transportation system.

In October 2002, legislation was passed authorizing the creation of the North Carolina Turnpike 
Authority with the purpose to study, design, plan, construct, own, finance and operate a system of 
toll roads, bridges, and/or tunnels supplementing the traditional non-toll transportation system 
serving the citizens of North Carolina. By action of the North Carolina General Assembly, effective 
July 27, 2009, the Turnpike Authority became a part of the North Carolina Department of 
Transportation (NCDOT), a public agency of the State of North Carolina. The Turnpike Authority 
serves as a business unit of NCDOT and currently has two operational projects; the Triangle 
Expressway in the Raleigh area, and the Monroe Expressway in the Charlotte area. The Turnpike 
Authority operates with a project-level financial structure. NCTA projects are financed as individual 
systems, and revenues are subject to North Carolina General Statue §136-89.188(a), which states that 
revenues derived from a Turnpike Project shall be used only for costs associated with the project 
from which the revenue was derived or a contiguous toll facility. FY 2020 senior debt service 
coverage ratios for the Triangle Expressway and Monroe Expressway were 1.60x and 5.38x, 
respectively, exceeding the 1.30x coverage requirement from the Trust Agreement for each facility. 

In the first half of FY 2020, the Turnpike Authority continued to see strong growth on both the 
Triangle Expressway and Monroe Expressway. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic in the second 
half of the fiscal year, NCTA saw reductions in traffic volumes, toll transactions and revenues on 
both the Triangle Expressway and Monroe Expressway. The overall extent of the pandemic and its 
impacts to the Authority's operations and financial conditions are unknown and will depend on future 
developments, which at this time remain uncertain.  

In FY 2020, NCTA began the construction of two new projects. Construction of the I-485 Express 
Lanes began in August 2019 and will add one express lane in each direction for approximately 17 

miles along I-485 from I-77 to U.S. 74. The express lanes are expected to open to traffic in late 2022. 
In November 2019, NCTA broke ground on construction of Phase 1 of the Complete 540 project, 
which will extend the existing Triangle Expressway from N.C. 55 Bypass to I-40. Complete 540 is 
expected to open to traffic in 2023. NCTA is committed to proactively working with the public and 
communities near the projects and implemented a robust public outreach program.

The Turnpike Authority had four projects under development in FY 2020 in the State Transportation 
Improvement Program (STIP), which designated the scheduling and funding of construction for 
transportation projects in the State of North Carolina for FY 2020 – FY 2029. These projects included 
the proposed Complete 540 Phase 2 project (STIP Project R-2829), the proposed I-77 Express Lanes 
South project (STIP Project I-5718), the two proposed express lanes projects on the U.S. 74 corridor
(STIP Project U-6103 and STIP Project U-2509) and the proposed Mid-Currituck Bridge (STIP 
Project R-2576).

In FY 2020, over 96,500 new NC Quick Pass accounts were opened and over 1.12 million new Bill 
by Mail customers were established. NCTA continues its responsibility to oversee NC Quick Pass 
account management, billing and customer service for the I-77 Express Lanes.

Safety and the use of innovation and technology remained a priority to the Turnpike Authority during 
FY 2020. NCTA maintained partnerships with the North Carolina State Highway Patrol and 
NCDOT’s Incident Management Assistance Patrol (IMAP). NCTA continued the Wrong-Way 
Vehicle Detection pilot program and plans to install upgraded pavement markings on its facilities in 
FY 2021.

Management assumes full responsibility for the completeness and reliability of the information 
contained in this report, based upon a comprehensive framework of internal control that has been 
established. Cherry Bekaert LLP, an independent audit firm, has issued an unmodified opinion on the 
North Carolina Turnpike Authority’s financial statements for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2020 
and 2019. The independent auditors’ report is located at the front of the financial section of this report.

Management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A), immediately follows the independent auditors’ 
report and provides an introduction, overview and analysis of the basic financial statements. The 
MD&A should be read in conjunction with this letter of transmittal.

We thank you for your continued support as we work to carry out our mission of delivering innovative
transportation solutions for the citizens of North Carolina.

Sincerely,

James J. Eden David Roy
Executive Director Director of Finance and Budget 



Deliver Transportation Solutions

Respected Leader & Partner in Transportation Network

Five-Year Strategic Goals

In October 2002, legislation was passed authorizing the creation of the North Carolina Turnpike 
Authority with the purpose to study, design, plan, construct, own, finance and operate a system 
of toll roads, bridges, and/or tunnels supplementing the traditional non-toll transportation system 
serving the citizens of North Carolina (NC General Statute §136-89.182). By action of the North 
Carolina General Assembly, effective July 27, 2009, the Turnpike Authority became a part of the 
North Carolina Department of Transportation, a public agency of the State of North Carolina. 

The North Carolina 
Turnpike Authority 
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Mission Statement
The North Carolina Turnpike Authority is committed to delivering innovative transportation solutions 
on behalf of local planning organizations, providing drivers more choices for their commute.

Customer-Driven Organization

Financially Sound Organization

Highly Qualified & Engaged Team
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Executive Director
James J. Eden

Director of 
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David Roy

Secretary, 
NC Department 

of Transportation
J. Eric Boyette

Chief 
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Manish Chourey
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Kim Medlin
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Organizational Structure



Sam Hunt IVMary N. Clayton

Board of 
Directors 
The Turnpike Authority is governed by a nine-member Board of 
Directors consisting of four members appointed by the General 
Assembly of North Carolina (two members appointed by the 
President Pro-Tempore of the Senate and two members appointed 
by the Speaker of the House of Representatives), four members 
appointed by the Governor of the State, and the North Carolina 
Secretary of Transportation. The Chair of the Board is selected by 
the Turnpike Authority Board. J. Eric Boyette, the NCDOT Secretary 
of Transportation, currently serves as the Chair of the Turnpike 
Authority Board.

Board Authority 
On July 23, 2010, the following powers were delegated by the North 
Carolina Secretary of Transportation to the Turnpike Authority Board 
of Directors:

•  Fix, revise, charge, and collect tolls and fees for the use of Turnpike 
Projects pursuant to NCGS §136-89.183 (a)(5);

•  Issue bonds or notes of the Turnpike Authority pursuant to NCGS 
§136-89.183(a)(6);

•  Invest the proceeds of bonds or notes of the Turnpike Authority 
that are pending disbursement or other idle funds of the Turnpike 
Authority in any investment authorized by NCGS §159-30 pursuant 
to NCGS §136-89.183 (6a); and,

•  Exercise such additional powers as shall be necessary for the 
financing of Turnpike Projects through compliance with the 
associated bond documentation, including complying with any 
arbitrage, rebate or other federal tax filings and providing for 
secondary market disclosure; provided any such additional power 
may be subjected to conditions, including the involvement and 
participation of other portions of the North Carolina Department 
of Transportation, which are stated within the bond documentation 
and executed by the Secretary.

Members of the Board

Perry Safran
Vice Chairman

Robert D. Teer Jr.
Secretary & Treasurer

Scott Aman

Montell W. Irvin Charles ‘Chuck' 
L. Travis III

James ‘Jim' Walker

J. Eric Boyette
Chairman

North Carolina Turnpike Authority     |     Comprehensive Annual Financial Report FY 2020     |    6North Carolina Turnpike Authority     |     Comprehensive Annual Financial Report FY 2020     |    5



North Carolina Turnpike Authority     |     Annual Report Fiscal Year 2019     | 7

Under Construction
I-485 Express Lanes
Complete 540 Phase 1

Open to Traffic
Monroe Expressway   
I-77 Express Lanes North
Triangle Expressway

Under Development
U.S. 74 Express Lanes
I-77 Express Lanes South
Complete 540 Phase 2
Mid-Currituck Bridge

2

3

4

Turnpike Authority 
Projects

Under Construction

Monroe Expressway

I-77 Express Lanes North

I-485 Express Lanes

U.S. 74 Express Lanes

I-77 Express Lanes South

Triangle Expressway

Complete 540 Phase 1

Complete 540 Phase 2

Mid-Currituck Bridge

Open to Traffic

Under Development

Project status as 
of June 30, 2020

Charlotte Area Raleigh Area Outer Banks
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I-77 Express Lanes North
The I-77 Express Lanes North project (“I-77 Express Lanes”) has been delivered as a concession agreement 
between NCDOT and I-77 Mobility Partners, LLC and is the first toll project in the state of North Carolina delivered 
via a public-private partnership (P3). The I-77 Express Lanes North project is approximately 26 miles long between 
the I-77 / I-277 junction in Charlotte and N.C. 150 in Mooresville. The Turnpike Authority is only responsible 
for account management, billing and customer service for the express lanes. The northernmost 13 miles of the 
express lanes opened to traffic in June 2019 and the remaining phase opened in November 2019.

Open to Traffic

Triangle Expressway
The Triangle Expressway is a six-lane, 18.8-mile All-Electronic Toll (AET) facility, extending from the interchange 
of I-40 and N.C. 147 in the north, to N.C. 55 Bypass in the south, to partially complete the “Outer Loop” around 
the greater Raleigh area. The Triangle Expressway opened in phases between 2011 and 2013, with the final phase 
opening to toll traffic on January 2, 2013.

The Triangle Expressway has earned several major engineering awards, including: the American Council of 
Engineering Companies (ACEC) Grand Award for Engineering Excellence in Transportation, as well as the ACEC 
People's Choice Award in 2012, the Southeastern Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials 
(SASHTO) Best Use of Innovation in the Southeastern Region Award in 2013 and the American Concrete Pavement 
Association (ACPA) Gold Award for Excellence in Concrete Pavement in 2014.

Monroe Expressway
The Monroe Expressway is a four-lane, 19.8-mile, AET facility that extends from U.S. 74 near I-485 in eastern 
Mecklenburg County to U.S. 74 between the towns of Wingate and Marshville in Union County. The Monroe 
Expressway reached substantial completion and opened to toll traffic on November 27, 2018. 
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Complete 540 Phase 2
The proposed Complete 540 Phase 2 project (STIP 
Project R-2829) will extend the Triangle Expressway 
System from I-40 to the U.S. 64 / U.S. 264 Bypass 
(I-87) in Knightdale, completing the “Outer Loop” 
around the greater Raleigh area. 

U.S. 74 Express Lanes
Local planning organizations have identified 
Independence Boulevard (U.S. 74) as a corridor needing 
improvements to maintain and enhance current and 
future mobility in the region. There are currently two 
proposed express lanes projects being studied on the 
U.S. 74 corridor. STIP Project U-6103 involves adding 
express lanes in the median of U.S. 74 between I-277 
and Idlewild Road for approximately five miles. STIP 
Project U-2509 involves widening and adding express 
lanes and other improvements between Idlewild Road 
in Charlotte to I-485 in Matthews, for approximately 
6.3 miles.

I-77 Express Lanes South
The proposed I-77 Express Lanes South project (STIP 
Project I-5718) will construct 11 miles of express lanes 
from I-277 / N.C. 16 (Brookshire Freeway) in Charlotte 
to the South Carolina state line. 

Mid-Currituck Bridge
The proposed Mid-Currituck Bridge (STIP Project 
R-2576) is a seven-mile project in Currituck County 
between U.S. 158 on the mainland and N.C. 12 on the 
Outer Banks. There will be a two-lane bridge spanning 
the Currituck Sound connecting the Currituck County 
mainland with its Outer Banks as well as a two-lane 
bridge spanning Maple Swamp on the Currituck County 
mainland connecting Aydlett to U.S. 158.

Complete 540 Phase 1
The Complete 540 project is a greenfield project in the greater Raleigh area in North Carolina, that will link the 
towns of Apex, Cary, Clayton, Garner, Fuquay-Varina, Holly Springs, Knightdale and Raleigh. Phase 1 (STIP Projects 
R-2721A, R-2721B and R-2828) will extend the existing Triangle Expressway approximately 17.8 miles from N.C. 55 
Bypass in Apex to I-40 in southeast Raleigh. Unlimited Notice to Proceed was issued for the three Design-Build 
Contracts on September 26, 2019. Design, right-of-way acquisition, utility relocations and construction are well 
underway for all three contracts. As of June 30, 2020, the design for Phase 1 was approximately 90% complete, 
554 right of way parcels (~86%) had been acquired or had entered the condemnation process, and construction 
was approximately 20% complete. Phase 1 is expected to open to traffic in mid-2023.

I-485 Express Lanes
The I-485 Express Lanes (STIP Project I-5507) will add one express lane in each direction for approximately 17 
miles between I-77 and U.S. 74 in southern Charlotte. The project will also extend the outside general-purpose 
lane in each direction from Rea Road to N.C. 16 (Providence Road). Construction on the project began in August 
2019 and the I-485 Express Lanes are expected to open to traffic in late 2022.

Under Development
The State Transportation Improvement Program (STIP) designates the scheduling and funding of construction
for transportation projects in the state of North Carolina. The current STIP is for FY 2020 to FY 2029 with
the first six years (2020 to 2025) referred to as the delivery STIP and the latter four years (2026 to 2029) as
the developmental STIP. The following Turnpike Authority projects under development are listed in either the
delivery STIP or developmental STIP. 

Under Construction



FY 2020 proved to be the most active year for NCTA's NC Quick Pass program to date despite the onset of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. Record highs were observed over multiple metrics and were most directly attributable to the 
continued ramp up of the Monroe Expressway and I-77 Express Lanes during the first half of the fiscal year, as well 
as the continued marketing efforts. 

NC Quick Pass sold over 243,000 transponders, opened more than 96,500 accounts and had over 1.12 million new 
Bill by Mail (BBM) customers over the course of the fiscal year.

NC Quick Pass also celebrated the one-year anniversary of the openings of the Monroe and Charlotte customer 
service centers.

Even though the NC Quick Pass program saw increases in year-over-year metrics, the pandemic had a significant 
impact on the NC Quick Pass program. Leadership was quick to react with new protocols and safety improvements 
in response to COVID-19. To protect public health during the COVID-19 response, all three NC Quick Pass walk-in 
customer service centers were temporarily closed to the public on March 17 at 5 p.m. The call center remained 
open at reduced capacity in order to maintain social distancing. With decreased usage on the toll facilities, the call 
center experienced a reduction in call volumes and was able to maintain service levels with limited staff. 

On March 30, third-party collection efforts and vehicle registration holds for past due accounts were suspended. 
Shortly thereafter, the assessment of all processing fees and civil penalties on Bill by Mail invoices were suspended. 
These suspensions remained in place through the end of FY 2020.

The walk-in customer services centers remained closed and the call center operated at reduced capacity through 
the remainder of FY 2020. 

Over

96,500
NC Quick Pass Accounts Established
16% YOY increase

The month with the highest amount of accounts established was July 2019 
with over 13,700 new NC Quick Pass account holders.

The month with the highest number of first-time users was July 2019 with over 167,000 new BBM customers.

Over

1.12M
New BBM Customers
33% YOY increase

Over

4.94M
Invoices Mailed & Emailed

New Bill by Mail (BBM) customers are established with NC Quick Pass when invoices are generated for first-time 
users on an NC toll facility. Invoices are mailed to these customers via the NC Quick Pass BBM program. 

Over

243,000 
Transponders Sold
14% YOY increase

The month with the highest sales was July 2019 
with over 32,000 transponders sold. 

NC Quick Pass®

NC Quick Pass E-ZPass Flex
10% of transponders sold

NC Quick Pass 
62% of transponders sold

NC Quick Pass E-ZPass
27% of transponders sold

All other transponders account for 2% of total. 
The percentages do not add up to 100% due to rounding.
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As directed by North Carolina General Statute § 136-89.193(b) and Section 3.1 of Session Law 2016-90, 
the NCTA and the NCDOT report that there were no one-time toll facility users who were charged more 
than $50 in processing fees imposed under G.S. 136-89.215 and civil penalties under G.S. 136-89.216.



Wrong-Way Vehicle Detection Program
When opened to toll traffic in 2013, the Triangle Expressway was one of the most innovative roadways of its time. 
The all-electronic tolling technology used to collect tolls also includes a Reverse Vehicle Notification system that 
alerts operators in the Traffic Management Center (TMC) if a car travels under a toll gantry in the wrong direction. 
In addition to the legacy system, four different wrong-way vehicle (WWV) technology systems have since been 
installed as part of a pilot research program on the Triangle Expressway to alert drivers they are traveling in the 
wrong direction. WWVs are automatically detected and captured on video, and alerts are sent to TMC operators 
and select managers and supervisors. Electronic signs and beacons are activated immediately to alert the driver 
that they are traveling in the wrong direction.

WWV technology systems at some interchanges on the Monroe Expressway in Union County will see upgraded 
pavement markings that look normal to drivers when traveling in the correct direction but illuminate with messages 
or symbols in bright red to drivers that are traveling in the wrong direction. Quickly notifying the driver is the safest 
and most effective way of preventing a wrong way driver incident. These same upgraded pavement markings are 
scheduled to be installed on the Triangle Expressway as part of a maintenance resurfacing project during Fiscal 
Year 2021. NCTA continues to search for advanced technologies such as these to provide the safest facilities 
possible for customers.  

Safety Incident Management Assistance Patrol (IMAP)
Since 2015, State Farm has served as the official sponsor of the North Carolina Department of Transportation's 
Incident Management Assistance Patrol (IMAP) program, a free service that provides roadway assistance to  all 
stranded motorists regardless of their insurance provider. IMAP services include changing flat tires, providing 
fuel, jump-starting batteries, clearing roadways and providing temporary traffic control to help keep major North 
Carolina roadways safe. In addition, IMAP provides assistance to law enforcement and first responders during 
incidents. The Turnpike Authority utilizes dedicated IMAP resources during weekday hours on both the Triangle 
Expressway and Monroe Expressway and also to support motorists in need during inclement weather events 
(hurricanes, snowstorms, etc.) and inform the Traffic Management Center (TMC) of road conditions.

Fiscal Year 2020 Highlights

829IMAP responses on 
the Triangle Expressway

Highway Patrol
One of the primary missions of the North Carolina State Highway Patrol (“Highway Patrol”) is to ensure safe, 
efficient transportation on North Carolina streets and highways. The Turnpike Authority has troopers from Troop C 
patrolling the Triangle Expressway and troopers from Troop H patrolling the Monroe Expressway. Each facility is 
patrolled two full shifts per day including one each during the morning and evening peak periods. 

519 IMAP responses on 
the Monroe Expressway
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The North Carolina Turnpike Authority (NCTA) transformed 
its approach in FY 2020 to evolve as a technology operations 
organization, focusing on data-driven decisions and to identifying 
efficiencies in toll collection methodologies.

NCTA continues to transform the tolling industry through 
investments in new technologies and services. In late FY 
2020, NCTA's new customer service center operator took over 
responsibilities for the Authority's NC Quick Pass transponder 
program, based on a contract that is structured around outcomes 
and deliverables to meet high customer service standards.  This 
is the first phase of a multi-phase modernization of NCTA's 
back office and customer experience technologies.

Regarding future phases, NCTA established a platform roadmap 
for a toll collection system that will be open to allow multiple 
vendors to provide services and products that help maintain 
revenue service and continue to identify toll collection 
efficiencies. As part of the roadmap, NCTA instituted a newly 
innovative cloud hub used to test new technologies, including 
an automated audit hub that uses data streams to analyze data 
from its toll collection system to audit, detect and resolve 
anomalies. NCTA also used its innovation hub to test new 
connected vehicle data services technologies.

Technology
Connected Vehicle Data Services

Regarding increased investments into making data-driven decisions, NCTA conducted a connected vehicle data 
services pilot project beginning in December 2019.

For the pilot, NCTA evaluated connected vehicle movement before and after the opening of the Morrisville 
Parkway interchange. The resulting data helped NCTA understand impacts to traffic movements and toll revenues 
due to changes to the toll system network. NCTA determined that several connected vehicles started using the 
new interchange as an alternate access point (trending similarly with general traffic data), and revenues were not 
negatively impacted.

Looking Ahead

NCTA is modernizing its toll collection system platform to better accommodate future statewide toll facilities with 
a more centralized system and support approach. In addition, NCTA is moving to multi-cloud platforms to provide 
flexibility with emerging and evolving technologies in multiple associated arenas (credit cards, geo-fencing and 
automotive, to name a few). 

NCTA continues to look at new e-commerce technologies through customer service partnerships that will provide 
outstanding customer service and more convenient payment options to all NC Quick Pass customers while also 
increasing NCTA's toll collection efficiency.
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Public Outreach 
& Marketing
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Complete 540 Groundbreaking

Fiscal Year 2020 Highlights

One-year Anniversary of 
Monroe Expressway Opening

One-year Anniversary of Charlotte & 
Monroe Customer Service Centers Opening First Virtual Community Meetings

7K Total Visits to 
Interactive Map

NC Quick Pass
The North Carolina Turnpike Authority continues to implement innovative 
ways to reach customers and communities. FY 2020 celebrated the one-year 
anniversary of the opening of the Charlotte area customer service centers and 
the Monroe Expressway, and another NC Quick Pass marketing campaign. Many 
of the marketing and outreach plans scheduled for late FY 2020 were canceled 
or delayed because of the COVID-19 pandemic. Transponder sales, marketing 
campaign impressions and outreach numbers were significantly impacted by the 
outbreak of this virus.

In FY 2020, NC Quick Pass launched a comprehensive marketing campaign in the 
Raleigh and Charlotte areas. The campaign included, radio, community events, 
digital advertising and social media outreach. The campaign ran at different 
capacities between November 2019 and February 2020, resulting in 44 million 
marketing campaign impressions and 103,000 marketing campaign clicks.

Public outreach included promoting the NC Quick Pass program to more than 
112,000 people around the Charlotte and Raleigh region through participation in 
more than 26 community events during FY 2020.

5.4M
Total ncquickpass.com 
page views
59% YOY increase

Complete 540
Representatives from NCDOT, NCTA and surrounding communities gathered Wednesday, November 13, 2019 to 
break ground on the Complete 540 project. Construction will be completed in phases. The first phase will stretch 
from N.C. 55 Bypass to I-40, and the second will connect I-40 to the U.S. 64 / U.S. 264 Bypass (I-87). The project, 
once constructed, will complete the Outer Loop around the greater Raleigh area. NCTA remains committed to 
keeping the public in the know regarding construction activities for the Complete 540 project. An interactive map 
where users can see up to date construction activities happening on the project was launched in FY 2020. In-
person meetings and presentations were put on hold when a stay-at-home order was issued in North Carolina due 
to the pandemic. NCTA researched and found new ways to reach neighbors during this time, which included hosting 
the first virtual community meeting. Statistics for Complete 540 outreach are shown below.

Looking Ahead
As we continue to adapt to changes resulting from the impact of COVID-19, longstanding communications practices 
will change. FY 2021 will include a comprehensive marketing campaign around the anticipated launch of the new 
back office system and the NC Quick Pass program. Public outreach will continue around building awareness of 
the NC Quick Pass program and benefits of using the toll roads as well as outreach for projects under construction 
and under development.

~20% 
Total ncquickpass.com 
monthly page views
compared to pre-covid visits

COVID-19 Impact

7K Postcards 
Sent

8 Outreach 
Events543 Email 

Inquiries

253 Hotline 
Phone Calls 11 Nextdoor 

Posts

Fiscal Year 2020 Statistics

2K
Outreach 

Conversations

26
Community 

Events Attended

~30
News 

Stories

44M
Marketing 
Campaign 

Impressions

Throughout the life of construction, outreach will continue to include involvement with our community partners such 
as Regional Transportation Alliance, Capital Area Metropolitan Planning Organization and numerous municipalities.
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Financial 
Section

$52.8M Triangle Expressway 
Actual Revenue

Fiscal Year 2020 Highlights

$21.3M Monroe Expressway 
Actual Revenue
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Report of Independent Auditor 
 
 
To the Board of Directors 
North Carolina Turnpike Authority  
Raleigh, North Carolina  
 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the North Carolina Turnpike Authority (“NCTA”), a 
major enterprise fund of the state of North Carolina, and a business unit of the North Carolina Department of 
Transportation (“NCDOT”) as of June 30, 2020 and 2019, and the related statements of revenues, expenses, 
and changes in net position and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the NCTA’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”); this includes the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our 
audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to NCTA’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of NCTA’s internal control. Accordingly, we express 
no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
financial statement presentation of the financial statements.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.  
 
Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective 
financial position of the NCTA as of June 30, 2020 and 2019, and the respective changes in financial position 
and cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements present only the NCTA and do not purport to and do not 
present fairly the financial position of the State of North Carolina as of June 30, 2020 and 2019, and the 
changes in its financial position and its cash flows thereof for the years then ended in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 



The Turnpike Authority is a public agency of the State of North Carolina located within the Department of 
Transportation (“NCDOT” or “Department”) and is a major enterprise fund of the State. As such, NCTA is included 
in the State of North Carolina's Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. The accompanying statements were 
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America 
(“U.S. GAAP”) to represent NCTA's financial position separate from the State of North Carolina.

Included in this report are the statements of net position as of June 30, 2020 and 2019, the statements of 
revenues, expenses, and changes in net position for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, and the statements 
of cash flows for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019. These statements represent all financial activity 
of the Turnpike Authority at the fund level, therefore they are not an accurate representation of the financial 
position of individual Turnpike Authority projects (project specific statements of revenues and expenses are on 
page 53). These statements use the accrual basis of accounting, which is similar to the accounting used by most 
private-sector businesses. All of the current year's revenues and expenses are taken into account regardless of 
when cash is received or paid. The statements of net position present assets and deferred outflows of resources 
less liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, thus presenting NCTA's financial position at the end of the fiscal 
year, while the statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position present information showing how 
NCTA's net position changed during the fiscal year.

Overview of the Financial Statements

Management's Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) provides an overview of the North Carolina Turnpike Authority's 
(“NCTA” or “Turnpike Authority”) activities during the fiscal years (“FY”) ended June 30, 2020, 2019, and 2018. 
The MD&A also includes condensed financial information comparing the current year to the prior years.

History
In October 2002, legislation was passed authorizing the creation of the Turnpike Authority with the purpose to 
study, design, plan, construct, promote, own, finance and operate a system of toll roads, bridges, and/or tunnels 
supplementing the traditional non-toll transportation system serving the citizens of North Carolina (N.C. General 
Statute §136-89.182). Financial activity for the Turnpike Authority started in late Fiscal Year 2004. By action of 
the North Carolina General Assembly, effective July 27, 2009, the Turnpike Authority became a part of NCDOT.

Legislation was passed in 2013 creating the Strategic Mobility Formula, a new way to fund and prioritize 
transportation projects to ensure they provide the maximum benefit to the State of North Carolina (House Bill 
817). This law also included changes to the annual appropriations (“GAP funds”) dedicated to Turnpike Authority 
projects; the annual appropriation of $49 million remains for the Triangle Expressway ($25 million) and Monroe 
Expressway ($24 million) projects.

The Turnpike Authority operates with a project-level financial structure. NCTA projects are financed as 
individual systems, and revenues are subject to North Carolina General Statue §136-89.188(a) which states, 
“Revenues derived from a Turnpike Project authorized under this Article shall be used only for the following costs 
associated with the project from which the revenue was derived or a contiguous toll facility:

The North Carolina Turnpike Authority 

1
2

3

Authority administration costs 
Development, right-of-way acquisition, design, construction, expansion, operation, maintenance, 
reconstruction, rehabilitation, and replacement costs. 
Debt service on the Authority's revenue bonds or related purposes such as the establishment of 
debt service reserve funds.” 

To maintain the mandated project-level financial structure, the Turnpike Authority must have separate operating 
and capital budgets for each Turnpike Project.
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Other Matters 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis and the Required Supplementary Information as listed in the table of contents be 
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a required part of the 
basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be 
an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, 
economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary 
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which 
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the 
information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and 
other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion 
or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient 
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Supplementary and Other Information 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the basic financial statements of the NCTA. The Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures – Modified 
Cash Basis – Non-GAAP is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the 
financial statements. The Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures – Modified Cash Basis – Non-GAAP is the 
responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including 
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to 
prepare the financial statements or the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, based 
on our audit, the information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the financial statements as a 
whole. 
 
The Introductory and Statistical Sections are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a 
required part of the basic financial statements. The Introductory and Statistical Sections have not been 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we 
do not express an opinion or provide assurance on them. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 22, 2020, on 
our consideration of the NCTA’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with 
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants agreements, and other matters. The purpose of 
that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and 
the results of that testing and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on 
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the NCTA’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 
 
 
Raleigh, North Carolina 
October 22, 2020 



















NORTH CAROLINA TURNPIKE AUTHORITY
STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements. 20 

NORTH CAROLINA TURNPIKE AUTHORITY
STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements. 21 

 
 



NORTH CAROLINA TURNPIKE AUTHORITY
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements. 22 

 
 

NORTH CAROLINA TURNPIKE AUTHORITY
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of these statements. 23 

 
 



NORTH CAROLINA TURNPIKE AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019

 24 

Note of operations and summary of significant accounting policies

Organization and Purpose
Article 6H on October 3, 2002. Effective July 27, 2009, the North Carolina General Assembly adopted Session 
Law 2009-343, transferring the NCTA
conserve expenditures and improve efficiency. The NCTA is a business unit of the NCDOT and is subject to and 
under the direct supervision of the Secretary of Transportation. The NCTA is presented as a major enterprise 
fund in the State of North Carolina. Currently, the NCTA is authorized to construct, operate, and maintain up to 
11 turnpike projects in the State. 
 
Financial Reporting Entity
officials are accountable to their constituents for their actions. As required by accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of Amer ting entity includes both the primary 
government and all of its component units. An organization other than a primary government serves as a 
nucleus for a reporting entity when it issues separate financial statements. The NCTA is a business unit of the 
NCDOT. The NCTA is an integral part Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 

atements for the NCTA are separate and apart from those of the State of North 
Carolina and NCDOT and do not present the financial position of the State or NCDOT, or changes in their 
financial position and cash flows. The NCTA is governed by a nine-member Board of Directors; two members 
are appointed by the Senate Pro Tempore and two by the Speaker of the House. The remaining five are 
appointed by the Governor and include the Secretary of Transportation. 
 
Basis of Presentation presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP 
as prescribed by the Government
activities is considered to be a single business-type activity and accordingly, is reported within a single column 
in the basic financial statements. 
 
Basis of Accounting

 accounting. Under the accrual basis, revenues are 
recognized when earned, and expenses are recorded when an obligation has been incurred. Grants and similar 
items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 
 

transactions, it deposits certain funds in the short-term investment fund 

transactions, the NCTA recognizes its allocable share of the assets and liabilities related to these transactions 
on the accompanying financial statement

 
Based on the authority provided in General Statute 147-69.3(e), the Treasurer lends securities from its 
investment pools to broker-dealers and other entities (borrowers) for collateral that will be returned for the same 

custodian manages the securities lending program.  The 
government and agency securities, Federal Nation Mortgage Association 

Securities, corporate bonds, and notes for collateral. T
U.S. government and agency securities, or irrevocable letters of credit as collateral for the securities lent. 
 
The collateral is initially pledged at 102% of the market value of the securities lent and additional collateral is 
required if its value falls to less than 100% of the market value of the securities lent. There are no restrictions on 
the amount of loans that can be made. Substantially, all security loans can be terminated on demand by either 
the Treasurer or the borrower. 
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Note of operations and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

ng program are included in the State of North Carolina 
CAFR. An electronic version of this report is available by accessing the North Carolina Office of the State 

e page http://www.ncosc.net/ and clicking 
 Reporting Section at (919) 707-0500. 

 
Receivables toll revenues and intergovernmental receivables 
consist of amounts due from the Federal Highway Admi
agencies in connection with reimbursement of allowable expenditures made pursuant to contracts and grants 
that are verifiable, measurable, and expected to be collected and available for expenditures for which the 

 
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
are no indications of significant delinquencies from the collection of toll revenues as of June 30, 2020 and 2019. 
Uncollectible accounts receivable were written off in 2020 and 2019 using the direct write-off method. 
 
Inventory n, first-out) or net realizable value and consists of 
transponders held for resale. 
 
Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents
collections.  The proceeds are to be used for debt service payment.  The funds are held in the NC STIF.  
Ownership interest of the NC STIF is determined on a fair market valuation basis as of June 30, 2020 and 
2019, in accordance with the NC STIF operating procedures. 
 
Restricted Investments funds received from the State of North 
Carolina to be used solely for the construction of the Triangle Expressway and the Monroe Expressway. See 
Note 3 for further information on restricted investments. 
 
Prepaid Insurance Costs
of the 2009 Triangle Expressway bonds, the 2017 and 2018 Triangle Expressway Revenue Refunding bonds, 
and the Triangle Expressway Senior Lien Series 2019 Revenue bonds. These amounts are capitalized and will 
be amortized over the maturity of the bonds. 
 
Capital Assets, Nondepreciable
purchased for specific projects. These costs will never be depreciated. Construction in progress includes 
consultant contract expenditures and contracted personnel service expenditures that are charged to specific 
projects. These costs will be transferred to depreciable asset categories when projects are complete. 
 
Capital Assets, Depreciable
value at date of donation in the case of gifts. Assets that have a value or cost in excess of $5,000.00 at the date 
of acquisition and have an expected useful life of more than two years are capitalized. This definition conforms 
to the policy of the North Carolina Office of State Controller. 
 
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of 50 years for the 
highway network. Capital assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. 
 
Noncurrent Liabilities ies include the advances from other funds, bonds payable, a note 
payable, accrued interest, accrued vacation, net pension liability, and net OPEB liability that will not be paid 
within the next fiscal year. 
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Note of operations and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Accrued Vacation  vacation leave when earned. The policy provides 
for a maximum accumulation of unused vacation leave of 30 days which can be carried forward each January 1 
or for which an employee can be paid upon termination of employment. Also, any accumulated vacation leave in 
excess of 30 days at year-end is converted to sick leave. Under this policy, the accumulated vacation leave for 
each employee as of June 30 equals the leave carried forward at the previous December 31 plus the leave 
earned less the leave taken between January 1 and June 30. 
 
In addition to the vacation leave described above, accrued vacation includes the accumulated unused portion of 
the special annual leave bonuses awarded by the North Carolina General Assembly. The bonus leave balance 
on December 31 is retained by employees and transferred into the next calendar year. It is not subject to 
conversion to sick leave. When classifying accrued vacation into current and noncurrent, leave is considered 
taken using a last-in, first-out method. 
 
Net Position
 

Net Investment in Capital Assets stment in capital assets, net of the 
corresponding related debt. 
 
Restricted  collections and other deposits that are to be 
used for debt service payments and reserves. These funds are held in the NC STIF and other investments 
(see Notes 2 and 3). 
 
Unrestricted 
is incurring expenses in excess of the capital grants received, the NCTA has a deficit in the unrestricted 
balance. 

 
Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources ement of net position will sometimes 
report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, 
deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period and so 
will not be recognized until then. The NCTA has items that meet this criterion which include pension related 

that took place in the current year and in prior years. The statements of net position also report a separate 
section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of 
resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period and so will not be 
recognized until then. The NCTA has two items that meets this criterion which include pension related 
deferrals and OPEB related deferrals.  
 
Revenue and Expense Recognition
nonoperating in the accompanying statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position. Operating 
expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with the 

those related to capital and non-capital financing or investing activities as defined by GASB Statement No. 9, 
Reporting Cash Flows of Proprietary and Nonexpendable Trust Funds and Governmental Entities That Use 
Proprietary Fund Accounting. Nonoperating expenses mainly relate to interest expense and the amortization 
of premiums and discounts of long-term debt. 
 
Operating revenues include activity from the toll roads that were open for operations during the fiscal years 
ended June 30, 2020 and 2019. These revenues include toll revenues, processing fees, and other charges 
arising from the toll roads. 
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Note of operations and summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Nonoperating revenues include activities that have the characteristics of nonexchange transactions. Revenue 
from nonexchange transactions represents funds received from the FHWA and NCDOT. Revenues from 
FHWA are classified as Capital Grants and are considered nonoperating, along with investment income and 
transfers in from the NCDOT, since these are related to investing, capital, or non-capital financing activities. 
 
Use of Estimates l statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the dates of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. 
 
Retirement Plans
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net 

ned on the same basis as they are reported by TSERS. 
For this purpose, plan member contributions are recognized in the period in which the contributions are due. 

provide the contributions. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the 
terms of TSERS. Investments are reported at fair value. 
 
Other Post Employment Benefit Plans
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information 

have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by RHBF and DIPNC. For this purpose, plan 
member contributions are recognized in the period in
contributions are recognized when due and the NCTA has a legal requirement to provide the contributions. 
Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of RHBF and 
DIPNC. Investments are reported at fair value. 
 
Change in Accounting Principle Accounting for Interest 
Cost Incurred Before the End of a Construction Period, in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2020. As a result of 
implementing this standard, the Authority is now expensing interest costs incurred before the end of a 
construction period, rather than capitalizing these costs as part of the related capital asset. This standard is 
being applied prospectively, therefore, there is no effect on net position as of June 30, 2019.   
 

The NCTA has reclassified certain prior period amounts in the accompanying statements 
of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position in order to be consistent with the current period 
presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on net position, total assets, or total liabilities. Certain 
expenses from capital outlay were reclassified to contracted personnel services. 
 
Note

As of June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, $29,308,754.38 and $13,364,762.94 shown on the statements of net 
position as restricted cash and cash equivalents represent 

s Investment Pool, an external investment pool that is 
not registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission and does not have a credit rating) had a weighted 
average maturity of 1.3 and 1.1 years as of June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.  
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Note (continued)

Ownership interest of the NC STIF is determined on a fair market valuation basis as of June 30, 2020 and 
2019, in accordance with the NC STIF operating procedures. Valuation of the underlying assets is performed 
by the custodian.  
 

with U.S. GAAP. At 2020 and 2019, $29,308,754.38 and $13,364,762.94, respectively, are classified as 
restricted. These amounts represent cash collected from toll revenues that is restricted for payments on 
bonds.  Deposit and investment risks as Investment Pool (which includes 

. An electronic version of 

 
Note investments

rned by North Carolina General Statute 159-30 and bond 
covenants that, in general, allow funds to be invested in obligations of the United States or United States 
government sponsored enterprises, obligations of the State of North Carolina or localities of the State of North 
Carolina, prime quality commercial paper, shares of certain money market mutual funds, and commingled 
investment pools.  
 
Fair Value Measurements change price that would be received for an 
asset or paid to transfer a liability in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. U.S. GAAP also establishes a fair 
value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy 
consists of three broad levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value is as follows: 
 

Level 1 prices available in active markets for identical 
assets and are given the highest priority; 

 
Level 2

 
Level 3

 
Concentrations of Credit Risk the NCTA, financial advisors, and trustees 
to minimize the risk of loss resulting from over concentration of assets. Securities that are exposed to credit risk, 
i.e., commercial paper, are limited to 5% of the portfolio
limit on the amount that may be invested in any single government sponsored enterprise, money market mutual 
fund, or commingled investment pool. 
 
Interest Rate Risk ents are exposed to as a result of changes in 
interest rates on the fair value of an investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment the greater 
the sensitivity of its fair value to changes in market inte
structure the investment portfolio so that securities mature to meet cash requirements reducing the need to sell 
securities on the open market prior to maturity. In addition, interest rate risk is reduced by investing funds 
primarily in shorter-term securities. The NCTA does not have a formal investment policy that limits investment 
maturities as a means of managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates. 
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Note investments (continued)

 

 

 
As of June 30, 2020 and 2019, included in the Money Market Mutual Funds totals as stated above, 
$153,125,754.75 and $123,185,351.75, respectively, we

an SEC-registered money market mutual fund. The fund 
invests in obligations of the United States government and its agencies, high quality debt obligations of U.S. 
companies, and obligations of financial institutions. The fund seeks to maintain a constant $1 net asset value 

tains a weighted average maturity of 60 
days or less.  
 
In addition to NCTA revenue bond proceeds, additional debt was incurred by the State of North Carolina.  
Investment of the proceeds of such debt is governed by North Carolina General Statute §147-69.1 and bond 
covenants that, in general, allow funds to be invested in obligations of the United States or United States 
government sponsored enterprises, obligations of the State of North Carolina or localities of the State of North 
Carolina, prime quality commercial paper, shares of certain money market mutual funds, and commingled 
investment pools.  
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Note assets

A summary of changes in capital assets for the year ended June 30, 2020 is presented as follows: 
 

 
A summary of changes in capital assets for the year ended June 30, 2019 is presented as follows: 
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Note from other funds

Advances from Other Funds as of June 30, 2020: 
 

 
 

s Advances from Other Funds as of June 30, 2019: 
 

 

 
Pursuant to G.S. 136-176(b), operation and project development costs for the NCTA are eligible for funding from 
the Highway Trust Fund administration funds. These funds are considered an Advance from Other Funds and 
are to be repaid from toll revenue as soon as possible. Beginning January 1, 2014, one year after the NCTA 
began collecting tolls on the completed Triangle Expressway project, the NCTA began accruing interest on the 

(1.93% as of June 30, 2020) on its investment of Highway Trust Fund funds pursuant to G.S. 147-6.1. The 
NCTA accrued $537,928.72 and $494,655.28 of interest for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, 
respectively. 
 

Note expense

During the year ended June 30, 2014, the NCTA entered into short-term equipment rental agreements for 
road maintenance equipment with the North Carolina Department of Transportation. Rental expense relating 
to these agreements during the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 was $205,073.31 and $176,432.27, 
respectively.  
 
Note term debt

Long-term debt as of June 30 consists of the following: 
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Note term debt (continued)
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Note term debt (continued)

Bonds payable maturities are as follows: 
 

 
2020 2019

Note Payable:
Monroe Expressway TIFIA note payable for an amount not to exceed
$166,500,000.00, opened on January 31, 2017, bearing interest of 3.08% per
annum, with interest payments beginning July 2021, principal payments
beginning January 2024, and final maturity in July 2053. 166,500,000.00$     120,000,000.00$     

 

 
On January 31, 2017, the NCTA signed an agreement with the United States Department of Transportation for a 
Monroe Expressway TIFIA note payable of up to $166,500,000.00.  In January 2019 and September 2019, the 
NCTA drew down $120,000,000.00 and $46,500,000.00, respectively, on this note, which is being used to pay 
certain costs, including land acquisition, design, construction, and equipping of the Monroe Expressway Project. 
The note payable requires debt service payments commencing July 1, 2021, with a final maturity of July 1, 
2053. No payment of principal or interest on the Monroe Expressway note payable is required to be made 
during the period of January 1, 2019 through January 1, 2021. The amounts of principal and interest to be paid 
are calculated based on the total amount drawn on the note and amount of accrued interest outstanding as of 
July 1, 2021. Accrued interest on the loan agreement was $6,607,487.03 and $1,691,046.58 as of June 30, 
2020 and 2019, respectively. 
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Note term debt (continued)

The Monroe Expressway TIFIA note payable maturities are as follows: 
 

 
Long-term liability activity for the year ended June 30, 2020 is as follows: 
 

 
Long-term liability activity for the year ended June 30, 2019 is as follows: 
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Note term debt (continued)

Total interest cost on indebtedness was $85,439,210.25 and $74,259,475.72 for the years ended June 30, 2020 
and 2019, respectively. Total capitalized interest represented $0.00 and $22,886,997.83 of this amount during the 
years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 
 
In the Event of Default 
The Trust Agreement for the North Carolina Turnpike 
Triangle Expressway System ($623,783,109) contains a provision providing that there can be no acceleration of 
payment of principal of or interest on such bonds as a result of the occurrence of any event of default. 
 
The Trust Agreement for the North Carolina Turnpike 
the Triangle Expressway System ($321,419,000) and the Trust Agreement for the Monroe Connector System 
($348,150,000) contains a provision providing that there can be no acceleration of payment of principal of or 
interest on such bonds as a result of the occurrence of any event of default. 
 
The Trust Agreement for the North Carolina Turnpike 
Expressway ($137,051,904) contains a provision providing that there can be no acceleration of payment of 
principal of or interest on such bonds as a result of the occurrence of any event of default. 
 
The Trust Agreement for the North Carolina Turnpike
appropriation capital appreciation bonds for the Complete 540 Project ($486,954,250) contains a provision that 
there can be no acceleration of payment of principal or of interest on such bonds as a result of the occurrence of 
any event of default. 
 
Federal Interest Cash Subsidy 
The NCTA has elected to treat the Triangle Expressway System State Annual Appropriation Revenue Bonds, 
Series 2009B and the Monroe Connector System State A

American Recovery and Reinvestment Tax Act of 2009
adherence with the Recovery Act, the NCTA receives cash subsidy payments from the United States Treasury 
Department equal to 35% of the interest payable on the Series 2009B and 2010A State Appropriation Bonds.  
As part of the 2020 Federal Budget, the payments received during the year ended June 30, 2020 were reduced 
by 5.9%.  As part of the 2019 Federal Budget, the payments received during the year ended June 30, 2019 
were reduced by 6.2%.  Cash subsidy payments totaled $4,323,823.27 and $6,177,123.20 for the years ended 
June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 
 
Refundings 
 
On May 10, 2018, the NCTA issued $150,125,000.00 of appropriation revenue refunding bonds. These bonds 
were issued to refund, in advance of their maturity, ce e Expressway System State 
Appropriation Revenue Bonds, Series 2009B, and to pay costs incurred in connection with the issuance of these 
bonds. As a result, the refunded bonds are considered to be defeased and the liability has been removed from 
the statements of net position as of June 30, 2018.  The reacquisition price exceeded the net carrying amount of 
the old debt by $9,777,825.18.  This amount is shown as a deferred outflow of resources and amortized over the 
life of the refunded debt. This advance refunding was undertaken to reduce total debt service payments over the 
next 22 years by $15,026,177.17 and resulted in an economic gain of $10,933,562.18.   
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Note term debt (continued)

On November 20, 2018, the NCTA issued $401,155,000 of appropriation revenue refunding bonds. These 
bonds were issued to refund, in advance of its maturity, the TriEx TIFIA note payable and accrued interest, and 
to pay costs incurred in connection with the issuance of these bonds. As a result, the refunded TriEx TIFIA note 
payable is considered to be defeased and the liability has been removed from the statements of net position as 
of June 30, 2019. The reacquisition price did not exceed the net carrying amount of the TriEx TIFIA note 
payable and accrued interest. This advance refunding was undertaken to reduce total debt service over the next 
23 years by $18,561,930.32 and will result in a present value economic gain of $10,245,387.60. 
 
On December 31, 2018, the NCTA issued $161,759,000.00 of appropriation revenue refunding bonds. These 
bonds were issued to refund, in advance of their maturi Triangle Expressway System 
State Appropriation Revenue Bonds, Series 2009B, and to pay costs incurred in connection with the issuance of 
these bonds. As a result, the refunded bonds are considered to be defeased and the liability has been removed 
from the statements of net position as of June 30, 2019.  The reacquisition price exceeded the net carrying 
amount of the old debt by $3,366,930.55.  This amount is shown as a deferred outflow of resources and 
amortized over the life of the refunded debt. This advance refunding was undertaken to reduce total debt service 
payments over the next 13 years by $22,646,034.24 and resulted in an economic gain of $18,854,944.18.   
 
Note outflows of resources unamortized bond refunding charges

Gains and losses from debt refunding must be deferred and amortized over the lesser of the original remaining 
life of the old debt or the life of the new debt. In addition, gains and losses related to debt refunding are to be 
used in determining the carrying value of the new debt issued to finance debt refunding. As of June 30, 2020 
and 2019, the carrying values of the 2017 Triangle Expressway System Senior Lien Turnpike Revenue 
Refunding Bonds and the 2018 Triangle Expressway System Appropriation Revenue Refunding Bonds have 
been adjusted for the gain from defeasance (net of amortization) of $26,210,481.50 and $28,933,975.50, 
respectively.  
 
This deferred outflow of resources is included as unamortized bond refunding charges in the statements of net 
position. 
 
Note revenues

The NCTA has pledged, as security for revenue bonds, net revenues from the operation of the Triangle 
Expressway System and the Monroe Connector System. In July 2009, the NCTA issued Triangle Expressway 
System State Annual Appropriation Revenue Bonds ($352,675,000.00) and Triangle Expressway System 
Senior Lien Revenue Bonds ($270,083,109.00).  In October 2010, the NCTA issued Monroe Connector System 
State Annual Appropriation Revenue Bonds ($233,920,000.00). In November 2011, the NCTA issued State 
Annual Appropriation Revenue Bonds ($214,505,000.00). In January 2017, the NCTA issued Monroe 
Expressway Toll Revenue Bonds ($137,051,904.00). In March 2017, the NCTA issued Triangle Expressway 
System Senior Lien Turnpike Revenue Refunding Bonds ($200,515,000.00). In May 2018, the NCTA issued 
Triangle Expressway System Appropriation Revenue Refunding Bonds ($150,125,000.00). In November 2018, 
the NCTA issued Triangle Expressway System Appropriation Revenue Refunding Bonds ($401,155,000.00). In 
December 2018, the NCTA issued Triangle Expressway System Appropriation Revenue Refunding Bonds 
($161,759,000.00). In December 2019, the NCTA issued Triangle Expressway System Capital Appropriation 
Revenue Bonds ($115,979,250.00) and Triangle Expressway System Senior Lien Turnpike Revenue Refunding 
Bonds ($370,975,000.00). For the Senior Lien Revenue Bonds, specific revenues pledged consist of toll 
revenues and all other income derived from the operation of the Triangle Expressway System. For the State 
Annual Appropriation Revenue Bonds, specific revenues pledged consist of federal interest subsidy payments 
and investment income. 
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Note revenues (continued)

purposes of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 and to receive a cash subsidy from the 
United States Treasury equal to 35% of the interest payable on these bonds.  As part of the 2020 Federal 
Budget, the payments received during the year ended June 30, 2020 were reduced by 5.9%. As part of the 2019 
Federal Budget, the payments received during the year ended June 30, 2019 were reduced by 6.2%.  
 
Proceeds from the bonds are being used to pay the costs of land acquisition, design, construction, and 
equipping of the Triangle Expressway System, a 19-mile toll road facility built in Durham and Wake counties that 
was fully opened in January 2013. Additionally, proceeds from the bonds are being used to pay the costs of 
design, construction, and equipping of the Monroe Connector System, a 19.7-mile toll road facility to be built in 
Mecklenburg and Union counties that was fully opened in November 2018. The total principal and interest 
remaining to be paid on the bonds is $3,739,537,052.72 payable through fiscal year 2055 (final maturity date). 
For the year ended June 30, 2020, principal and interest paid and available revenues (toll revenues, fees, 
federal interest subsidy, federal transportation funds, and investment revenues) were $91,257,628.67 and 
$90,567,508.43, respectively. For year ended June 30, 2019, principal and interest paid and available revenues 
(toll revenues, fees, federal interest subsidy, federal transportation funds, and investment revenues) were 
$72,209,680.55 and $74,236,152.78, respectively. 
 
Note plans

Plan Description
le-employer defined benefit pension plan administered by 

the State of North Carolina. TSERS membership is comprised of employees of the State (state agencies and 
institution), universities, community colleges, and certain proprietary component units along with the employees 
of Local Education Agencies and charter schools. Article 1 of G.S. Chapter 135 assigns the authority to 
establish and amend benefit provision to the North Carolina General Assembly. Management of the plan is 
vested in the TSERS Board of Trustees, which consists
appointed by the state Senate, one appointed by the state House of Representatives, and the State Treasurer, 
the State Superintendent of Public Instruction, and the State Director of Human Resources, who serve as ex-

tirement System is included in the State of North 
statements and required supplementary information for 

TSERS. That Report may be obtained by writing to the Office of the State Controller, 1410 Mail Service Center, 
Raleigh, North Carolina 27699-1410, by calling (919) 981-5454, or at www.osc.nc.gov.  
 
Benefits Provided 

average final compensation is calculated as the average st consecutive years of 
compensation.  General employee plan members are eligible to retire with full retirement benefits at age 65 with 
five years of creditable service, at age 60 with 25 years of creditable service, or at any age with 30 years of 
creditable service.  General employee plan members are eligible to retire with partial retirement benefits at age 
50 with 20 years of creditable service or at age 60 with five years of creditable service.  Survivor benefits are 
available to eligible beneficiaries of members who die while in active service or within 180 days of their last day 
of service and who have either completed 20 years of creditable service regardless of age or have completed 
five years of service and have reached age 60.  Eligible 

contributions.  The plan does not provide for automatic post-
retirement benefit increases.  Increases are contingent upon actuarial gains of the plan. 
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Note plans (continued)

Contributions tablished by North Carolina General Statute 135-8 and 
may be amended only by the North Carolina General Assembly. Employer and member contribution rates are set 
each year by the North Carolina General Assembly based on annual actuarial valuations. Required employer 
contribution rates for the years ended June 30, 2020, and 2019 were 12.97% and 12.29%, respectively, while 
employee contributions were 6% each year. The NCTA made 100% of its annual required contributions for the 
years ended June 30, 2020, 2019, and 2018. Contributions to the pension plan from the NCTA were $226,966 and 
$193,133.00 for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 
 
Refunds of Contributions  a contributing member of TSERS may file 
an application for a refund of their contributions. By state law, refunds to members with at least five years of service 
include 4% interest. State law requires a 60-day waiting period after service termination before the refund may be 
paid. The acceptance of a refund payment cancels the indivi
benefit provided by TSERS. 
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources 
Related to Pensions
of the net pension liability. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2019. The total pension liability 
used to calculate the net pension was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2018. The total 
pension liability was then rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2019, utilizing update procedures 
incorporating the actuarial assumptions.  
 

future payroll covered by the pension plan, relative to the projected future payroll covered by the pension plan of all 

0.01% and the proportion did not change from the prior measurement date.  
 
For the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the NCTA recognized pension expense of $368,361.00 and 
$195,365.00, respectively. As of June 30, 2020, the NCTA reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources: 
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Note plans (continued)

As of June 30, 2019, the NCTA reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions from the following sources: 
 

 
 
As of June 30, 2020, the $226,966 included as a component of deferred outflows of resources related to pensions 
resulting from NCTA contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a decrease of the net 
pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2021. Other amounts reported as deferred inflows of resources and 
deferred outflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 
 

 
 

The total pension liability in the December 31, 2018, actuarial valuation was 
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 
 

Inflation    3.00% 
Salary increases   3.50% to 8.10%, including inflation and productivity factor of 3.50% 
Investment rate of return  7.00%, net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation 

 
The plan currently uses mortality tables that vary by age, gender, employee group (i.e., general, law 
enforcement officer) and health status (i.e., disabled and healthy). The current mortality rates are based on 
published tables and based on studies that cover significant portions of the U.S. population. The healthy 
mortality rates also contain a provision to reflect future mortality improvements. 
 
The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2018 valuation are based on the experience study 
prepared as of December 31, 2014 and adopted by the Board of Trustees on January 21, 2016. Future ad hoc 
COLA amounts are not considered to be substantively automatic and, are therefore, not included in the 
measurement. 
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Note plans (continued)

The projected long-term investment returns and inflation assumptions are developed through review of current 
and historical capital markets data, sell-side investment research, consultant whitepapers, and historical 
performance of investment strategies. Fixed income return projections reflect current yields across the U.S. 
Treasury yield curve and market expectations of forward yields projected and interpolated for multiple tenors 
and over multiple year horizons. Global public equity return projections are established through analysis of the 
equity risk premium and the fixed income return projec
projections reflect the foregoing and historical data analysis. These projections are combined to produce the 
long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset 
allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic 
real rates of return for each major asset class as of June 30, 2018 are summarized in the following table: 
 

 
The information above is based on 30-year expectations developed with the consulting actuary for the 2017 
asset, liability, and investment policy study for the North Carolina Retirement Systems, including TSERS. The 
long-term nominal rates of return underlying the real rates of return are arithmetic annualized figures. The real 
rates of return are calculated from nominal rates by multiplicatively subtracting a long-term inflation assumption 
of 3.05%. All rates of return and inflation are annualized. 
 

 The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00%. The projection of cash 
flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be made at the 
current contribution rate and that contributions from employers will be made at statutorily required rates, 
actuarially determined. Based on these assumptions, t
be available to make all projected future benefit payments of the current plan members. Therefore, the long- 
term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit 
payments to determine the total net pension liability.
 

 

pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (6.00%) 
or 1 percentage-point higher (8.00%) than the current rate: 
 

 
 

available in the separately issued CAFR for the State of North Carolina. 
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Note plans (continued)

Deferred Compensation and Supplemental Retirement Income Plans IRC Section 457 Plan
Carolina offers its permanent employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with Internal 

The Plan permits each participating employee to defer a portion of his or her salary until future years. The deferred 
compensation is available to employees upon separation from service due to death, disability, or retirement or 
financial hardships if approved by the Board of Trustees of the Plan.  
 
The Board, a part of the North Carolina Department of Administration, maintains a separate fund for the exclusive 
benefit of the participating employees and their beneficiaries, the North Carolina Public Employee Deferred 
Compensation Trust Fund. The Board also contracts with an external third party to perform certain administrative 

costs of administering and funding the Plan are the 
responsibility of the Plan participants. No costs are incurred by the NCTA. The voluntary contributions by employees 
amounted to $36,359.82 and $28,271.00 for the years ended June 30, 2020, and 2019, respectively. 
 
IRC Section 401(k) Plan roll in the Supplemental Retirement Income 
Plan, a defined contribution plan, created under Internal Revenue Code Section 401(k). All costs of administering 
the Plan are the responsibility of the Plan participants. No costs are incurred by the NCTA. The voluntary 
contributions by employees amounted to $41,425.86 and $57,014.38 for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, 
respectively. 
 
Note postemployment benefits

The NCTA participates in the Comprehensive Major Medica
employer defined benefit health care plan that provides postemployment health insurance to eligible former 
employees. Eligible former employees include long-term disability beneficiaries of the Disability Income Plan of 
North Carolina and retirees of TSERS. 
 
Retiree Health Benefit Fund 
Plan Description s been established as a fund to provide health 
benefits to retired and disabled employees and their applicable beneficiaries. The RHBF is established by 
General Statute 135-7, Article 1. It is a cost-sharing, multiple-employer, defined benefit healthcare plan, 
exclusively for the benefit of former employees of the State, the University of North Carolina System, and 
community colleges. In addition, LEAs, charter schools, and some select local governments also participate. 
 
Management of the plan is vested in the State Health Pl
eight appointed by the Governor, one appointed by the State senate, one appointed by the State House of 
Representatives, and the State Treasurer, the State Superintendent, and the Director of the Office of State Human 
Resources who serve as ex-officio members. The RHBF is supported by a percent of payroll contribution from 
participating employing units. Each year the percentage is set in legislation, as are the maximum per retiree 
contributions from the RHBF to the State Health Plan. The State Treasurer, with the approval of the State Health 
Plan Board of Trustees, then set the employer contributions (subject to the legislative cap) and the premiums to be 
paid by retirees, as well as the health benefits to be provided through the State Health Plan. 
 
The financial statements and other required disclosures for the plan are presented in the State of North 

ww.osc.nc.gov/public-information/reports.  
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Note postemployment benefits (continued)

Benefits Provided s and disabled employees from the RHBF are 
OPEB. The healthcare benefits for retired and disabled employees who are not eligible for Medicare are the 
same as for active employees. The plan options change when former employees become eligible for Medicare. 
Medicare retirees have the option of selecting one of two fully-insured Medicare Advantage/Prescription Drug 
Plan options of the self-funded Traditional 70/30 preferred Provider Organization plan option that is also offered 
to non-Medicare members. If the Traditional 70/30 Plan is selected by a Medicare retiree, the self-funded State 
Health Plan coverage is secondary to Medicare. 
 
Those former employees who are eligible to receive medical benefits from the RHBF are long-term disability 
beneficiaries of the DIPNC and retirees of the TSERS, the consolidated Judicial Reti

and a small number of local governments, with five or more years of contributory membership service in their 
retirement system prior to disability or retirement, with the following exceptions: for employees first hired on or 
after October 1, 2006, and members of the General Assembly first taking office on or after February 1, 2007, 
future coverage as retired employees and retired members of the General Assembly is subject to the 
requirement that the future retiree have 20 or more years of retirement service credit in order to receive 
coverage on a noncontributory basis. Employees first hired on or after October 1, 2006 and members of the 
General Assembly first taking office on or after February 1, 2007 with 10 but less than 20 years of retirement 
service credit are eligible for coverage on a partially contributory basis. For such future retirees, the State will 
pay 50% of the State Health 
 
Section 35.21(c) and (d) of Session Law 2017-57 repeals retiree medical benefits for employees first hired 
January 1, 2021. The new legislation amends Article 3B of Chapter 135 of the General Statutes to require that 
retirees must earn contributory retirement service in TSERS (or in an allowed local system unit), CJRS, or LRS 
prior to January 1, 2021, and not withdraw that service, in order to be eligible for retiree medical benefits under 
the amended law. Consequently, members first hired on and after January 1, 2021 will not be eligible to receive 
retiree medical benefits. 
 

ovisions are established by Chapter 135-7, Article 1 and Chapter 135, 
Article 3B of the General Statutes and may be amended only by the North Carolina General Assembly. The 
RHBF does not provide for automatic post-retirement benefit increases. 
 
Contributions
on those contributions shall be used to provide health benefits to retired and disabled employees and their 
applicable beneficiaries. By statute, contributions to the RHBF are irrevocable. Also by law, fund assets are 
dedicated to providing benefits to retired and disabled employees and their applicable beneficiaries and are not 
subject to the claims of creditors of the employers making contributions to the RHBF. However, the RHBF 
assets may be used for reasonable expenses to administer the RHBF, including costs to conduct required 

on rates to the RHBF, which 
are intended to finance benefits and administrative expenses on a pay-as-you-go basis are determined by the 
General Assembly in the Appropriations Bill. For the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the NCTA 
contributed 6.47% and 6.27% of covered payroll which amounted to $107,242.18 and $97,732.21, respectively. 
 
At June 30, 2020, the NCTA reported a liability of $2,354,514.00 for its proportionate share of the net OPEB 
liability. The net OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2019, and the total OPEB liability used to calculate 
the net OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2018. The total OPEB 
liability was then rolled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2019 utilizing update procedures 

ry, actuarially determined. At June 30, 2020 and 2019, the 
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Note postemployment benefits (continued)

As of June 30, 2020, $113,221.00 of contributions subsequent to the measurement date, $1,568.00 from a 
difference between projected and actual earnings on OPEB plan investments, and $1,079,753.00 related to the 
change in proportion of the net OPEB liability are reported as deferred outflows of resources and will be 
recognized as a decrease of the net OPEB liability in the year ending June 30, 2021. Other amounts reported as 
deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows: 
 

 
Actuarial Assumptions 31, 2018, actuarial valuation was determined 
using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 

 
Inflation       3.00% 
Salary increases  3.50% to 8.10%, including inflation and 

productivity factor of 3.50% 

 
Discount Rate tal OPEB liability for the RHBF was 3.50%. The 
projection of cash flow used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from employers would be 
made at the current statutorily determined contribution rate. Based on 
fiduciary net position was not projected to be available to make projected future benefit payments of current plan 
members. As a result, a municipal bond rate of 3.50% was used as the discount rate used to measure the total 
OPEB liability. The 3.50% rate is based on the Bond Buyer 20-year General Obligation Index as of June 30, 
2018. 
 

oportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liabilit  The 
 OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using 

a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (2.50%) or 1-percentage point higher (4.50%) than the current 
discount rate: 
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Note postemployment benefits (continued)

 
The following presents the NC are of the net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated 
using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage point higher than the current discount 
rate: 
 

 
 Detailed information about the O

available in the separately issued CAFR for the State of North Carolina, which can be found at 
https://www.osc.nc.gov/public-information/reports. 
 
Disability Income Plan of North Carolina 
Plan Description e provided through the DIPNC, a cost-sharing, 
multiple-employer defined benefit plan, to the eligible members of TSERS which includes employees of the 
State, the University of North Carolina System, community colleges, and certain Local Education Agencies and 
ORP. 
 
Management of the plan is vested in the State Health Pl
eight appointed by the Governor, one appointed by the State Senate, one appointed by the State House of 
Representatives and the State Treasurer, the State Superintendent, and the Director of the Office of the State 
Human Resources who serve as ex-officio members. Management of the plan is vested in the State Health Plan 

eight appointed by the Governor, one appointed by the 
State Senate, one appointed by the State House of Representatives and the State Treasurer, the State 
Superintendent, and the Director of the Office of State Human Resources who service as ex-officio members. 
 
The financial statements and other required disclosures for the plan are presented in the State of North 

ww.osc.nc.gov/public-information/reports.  
 
Benefits Provided  OPEB from DIPNC after the conclusion of 
the short-term disability period or after salary continuation payments cease, whichever is later, for as long as the 
employee is disabled. An employee is eligible to receive long-term disability benefits provided the following 
requirements are met: (1) the employee have five or more years on contributing membership services in TSERS 
or ORP, earned within 96 months prior to the end of the short-term disability period or cessation of salary 
continuation payments, whichever is later; (2) the employee must make application to receive long-term benefits 
within 180 days after the conclusion of the short-term disability period or after salary continuation payment 

sation cease (excluding monthly payments for permanent 
partial benefits), whichever is later; (3) the employee must be certified by the Medical Board to be mentally or 
physically disabled for the further performance of his/her usual occupation; (4) the disability must have been 
continuous, likely to be permanent, and incurred at the time of active employment; (5) the employee must not be 
eligible to receive an unreduced retirement benefit from TSERS after (1) reaching the age of 65 and completing 
five years of membership service, or (2) reaching the age of 60 and completing 25 years of creditable service, or 
(3) completing 30 years of service at any age. 
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Note postemployment benefits (continued)

Contributions
Statutes and may be amended only by the North Carolina General Assembly. The plan does not provide for 
automatic post-retirement benefit increases. Disability income benefits are funded by actuarially determined 
employer contributions that are established in the Appropriations Bill by the General Assembly and coincide with 
the State fiscal year. For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, employers made a statutory 
contribution of 0.10% of covered payroll which was equal
contributions to the plan were $1,657.53 and $2,182.22 for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, 
respectively. 
 
The contributions cannot be separated between the amounts that relate to other postemployment benefits and 
employment benefits for active employees. Those individuals who are receiving extended short-term disability 
benefit payments cannot be separated from the number of members currently eligible to receive disability 
benefits as another postemployment benefit. 
 
OPEB Asset, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows At June 30, 
2020, the NCTA reported an asset of $3,044.00 for it proportionate share of the net DIPNC OPEB asset. The 
net OPEB asset was measured as of June 30, 2019, and the total OPEB asset used to calculate the net OPEB 
asset was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2018. The total OPEB asset was then rolled 
forward to the measurement date of June 30, 2019 utilizing update procedures incorporating the actuarial 

value of future salary, actuarially determined. At s proportion was 0.01%. 
 
As of June 30, 2020, $1,750.00 resulting from the NCTA to the measurement date, 
$3,110.00 from a difference between actual and expected experience, $337.00 from changes in assumptions, 
$580.00 from a difference between project and actual earnings on OPEB plan investments, and $1,778.00 from 

 and proportionate share of contributions are reported 
as deferred outflows of resources and will be recognized as an increase of the net OPEB asset in the year 
ending June 30, 2021. Other amounts reported as deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be 
recognized in OPEB expense as follows: 
 

 
 
Actuarial Assumptions
using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 

 
Inflation    3.00% 
Salary increases   3.50% to 8.10%, including inflation and productivity factor of 3.50% 
Investment rate of return  3.75%, net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation 
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Note postemployment benefits (continued) 

ionate Share of the Net OPEB Asset to Changes in the Discount Rate
 OPEB asset would be if it were calculated using a 

discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (2.75%) or 1-percentage point higher (4.75%) than the current 
discount rate: 
 

 
Common Actuarial Assumptions for both OPEB Plans
valuation performed as of December 31, 2018 using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods in 
the measurement, unless otherwise specified. The total OPEB liability was calculated through the use of update 
procedures to roll forward from the actuarial valuation date to the measurement date of June 30, 2019. The 
update procedures incorporated the actuarial assumptions used in the valuation. The entry age normal cost 
method was utilized.  
 
The OPEB plan currently uses mortality tables that vary by age, gender, employee group (i.e. teacher, general, 
law enforcement officer), and health status (i.e. disabled and healthy). The current mortality rates are based on 
published tables and based on studies that cover significant portions of the U.S. population. The mortality rates 
also contain a provision to reflect future mortality improvement. 
 
The actuarial assumptions were based on the results of an actuarial experience review for the period January 1, 
2010 through December 31, 2014. 
 
The long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was determined using a building-block method 
in which best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return are developed for each major asset class. 
These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future 
real rates of return by the target asset allocation and by adding expected inflation. The target allocation and best 
estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:  
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Note postemployment benefits (continued)

Total OPEB Expense, OPEB Assets and Liabilities, and Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources Related to 
OPEB   
 
The following is information related to the proportionate share and OPEB expense as of June 30, 2020: 
 

 
The following is information related to the proportionate share and OPEB expense as of June 30, 2019: 
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Note management 

The NCTA is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and the destruction of assets; 
errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The NCTA carries insurance through the 
NCDOT for risks of loss. There have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage from the previous year, 
and settled claims have not exceeded coverage in any of the past three fiscal years. 
 
Tort claims of up to $1,000.00 are self-insured under the authority of the State Tort Claims Act. In addition, the 
State provides excess public office e up to $10,000.00 via contract with a 
private insurance company. The premium, based on a composite rate, is paid by the NCDOT directly to the 
insurer. 
 

rnal service fund of the State, insures all state-owned 
buildings and contents for fire and various other property losses up to $2,500.00 per occurrence. The Fire Fund 
purchases excess insurance from private insurers to cover losses over the amounts insured by the Fund. Losses 
covered by the Fire Fund are subject to a $5.00 per occurrence deductible except for theft losses that carry a 
$1.00 per occurrence deductible. There have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage from the 
previous year and settled claims have not exceeded coverage in any of the past three fiscal years. 
 
State-owned vehicles are covered by liability insurance handled by the North Carolina Department of Insurance. 
The State is self-insured for the first $1,000.00 of any loss through a retrospective rated plan. Excess insurance 
coverage is purchased through a private insurer to cover losses greater than $1,000.00 up to $10,000.00. The 
liability limits for losses occurring in-state are $1,000.00 per claimant and $10,000.00 per occurrence. The NCDOT 
covers the cost of excess insurance and pays for those losses falling under the self-insured retention. 
 
The NCTA is protected for losses from employee dishonesty and computer fraud for employees paid in whole or in 
part from State funds. This coverage is with a private insurance company and is handled by the North Carolina 
Department of Insurance with coverage of $5,000.00 per occurrence, with a $75.00 deductible and 10% 
participation in each loss above the deductible. In addition, the NCDOT has a separate public employee 
dishonesty and faithful performance policy with a limit of $1,000.00. 
 
Employees and retirees are provided health care coverage by the Medical Plan, a component unit of the State. 
The Medical Plan is funded by employer and employee contributions and is administered by a third-party 
contractor. 
 

injured on the job. All 
employees of the State are included in the program.
responsibility is to arrange for and provide the necessary treatment for the work-related injury. The NCTA is 
responsible to pay medical benefits and compensation 

 
Term life insurance of $25,000 to $50,000 is provided to eligible employees. This self-insured death benefit 
program is administered by the State Treasurer and funded via employer contributions. The employer contribution 
rate was 0.16% of covered payroll for the current fiscal year. 
 
Additional details on the state-administered risk management programs are disclosed in the State of North 

. An electronic version of this report is available by accessing the North Carolina Office of the 
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Note and contingencies

The NCTA has established an encumbrance system to track its outstanding commitments on construction 
projects and other purchases. Outstanding commitments for engineering and design contracts were 
$453,590,357.32 and $333,001,295.39 as of June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 
 
The NCTA at times is involved in litigation in the normal course of business. Although the outcome of any such 
litigation is not presently determinable, in the opini
results of the litigation will not have a materially adverse impact on the financial position of the NCTA. 
 
During 2020, an outbreak of a novel strain of coronavi
spread of COVID-19, economic uncertainties have arisen that could negat
operations for an indeterminable time period. Other financial impacts could occur that are unknown at this time. 
 
Note events

In connection with the preparation of the financial statements and in accordance with U.S. GAAP, the NCTA 
considered for disclosure subsequent events that occurred after the statement of net position date of June 30, 
2020 through October 22, 2020, which was the date the financial statements were available to be issued.  
 
The NCTA will be closing on TriEx Revenue Bond Anticipation Notes of $499,460,000 on or about October 29, 
2020. The proceeds of the notes will be used to provide interim financing for certain costs of the existing 
Triangle Expressway System, and to pay interest and certain other costs incurred in connection with the notes.  
 



 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

This section contains additional information required by generally accepted accounting principles. 
 

 

Retirement System 
 

 
 Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net O

 

 
 Schedule of Proportionate Share come Plan of North Carolina 

 
ility Income Plan of North Carolina 
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*The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the prior fiscal year ended June 30.  
Information is not available for preceding years, to the extent 10 years of information is not presented. 
 
Notes to Schedule 
 
Valuation Date. 
The total pension liability was determined by actuarial valuations as of December 31, 2018. The total pension 
liability was then rolled forward to June 30, 2019 utilizing update procedures incorporating the actuarial 
assumptions. The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2018 valuations were based on the results 
of an actuarial experience study for the period January 1, 2010 through December 31, 2014. 
 
Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates. 

- The Entry Age Normal actuarial cost method was used to determine liabilities and funding 
requirements.  

- Change in discount rate from 7.20% to 7.00% as of December 31, 2018, with direct-rate smoothing 
of the change in the employer contributions rate over a three-year period. 

- Salary increases are assumed to be 3.50%-8.10% which includes 3.5% inflation and productivity 
factor. 

- Investment expected rate of return is 7.00% net of pension plan investment expense, including 
inflation. 

- No cost-of-living adjustments granted. 
- Mortality tables vary by age, gender, employee group, and health status. The current mortality rates 

are based on published tables and based on studies that cover significant portions of the U.S. 
population. The mortality rates also contain a provision to reflect future mortality improvements. 
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*The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the prior fiscal year ended June 30.  
Information is not available for preceding years, to the extent 10 years of information is not presented. 
 
Notes to Schedule 
 
Valuation date. 
The total pension liability was determined by actuarial valuations as of December 31, 2018. The total pension 
liability was then rolled forward to June 30, 2019 utilizing update procedures incorporating the actuarial 
assumptions. 
 
Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates. 

- The discount rate used to measure total OPEB liability for RHBF was 3.5%, mirroring the municipal 
bond rate. The rate is used on the Bond-Buyer 20-year General Obligation index as of June 30, 2019. 

- Salary increases are assumed to be 3.50%-8.10%, which includes 3.5% inflation and productivity factor. 
- Investment expected rate of return is 7.00% net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation. 
- General inflation is assumed to be 3%. 
- Mortality tables vary by age, gender, employee group, and health status. The current mortality rates are 

based on published tables and based on studies that cover significant portions of the U.S. population. 
The mortality rates also contain a provision to reflect future mortality improvements. 
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*The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the prior fiscal year ended June 30.
Information is not available for preceding years, to the extent 10 years of information is not presented.

Notes to Schedule 

Valuation date. 
The total pension liability was determined by actuarial valuations as of December 31, 2018. The total pension 
liability was then rolled forward to June 30, 2019 utilizing update procedures incorporating the actuarial 
assumptions. The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2018 valuations were based on an 
investigation of demographic and economic experience over the five-year period from January 1, 2010 to 
December 31, 2014. 

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates 
- The discount rate used to measure total OPEB liability for DIPNC was 3.75%.
- The long-term expected real rate of return on plan investments was used on all periods for projecting

benefit payments and determining the total liability.
- Salary increases are assumed to be 3.50%-8.10%, which includes 3.5% inflation and productivity factor.
- Investment expected rate of return is 3.75% net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation.
- General inflation is assumed to be 3%.
- Mortality tables vary by age, gender, employee group, and health status. The current mortality rates are

based on published tables and based on studies that cover significant portions of the U.S. population.
The mortality rates also contain a provision to reflect future mortality improvements.
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NORTH CAROLINA TURNPIKE AUTHORITY
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES
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5  

NORTH CAROLINA TURNPIKE AUTHORITY
NOTES TO THE SCHEDULE OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES
(MODIFIED CASH BASIS NON GAAP)

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

5  

Note of presentation

basis. Operating revenues inclusive of Late Payment Fees, Electronic Transaction Fees, and Returned Check 
Fees are shown on a modified cash basis. These revenues are accounted for at the fund level and allocated 

h month based on facility usage. Any accrued revenue 
inclusive of these fees has not yet been allocated to a specific project, therefore, it cannot be included in the 
project specific operating revenue amounts. All expenditures are shown on a cash basis.  
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Report of Independent Auditor on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements

Performed in AccordanceWith Government Auditing Standards

To the Board of Directors 
North Carolina Turnpike Authority 
Raleigh, North Carolina 

We have audited in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
and the standards applicable to the financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the North Carolina Turnpike Authority 

 unit of the North Carolina 
ears ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, and the related 

notes to the financial statements, which collectively c financial statements as listed in the 
table of contents, and have issued our report thereon dated October 22, 2020. 

The financial statements present only the NCTA and do not purport to and do not present fairly the financial 
position of the State of North Carolina or the NCDOT, as of June 30, 2020 and 2019, and the changes in their 
financial position and their cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 

Internal Control over Financial Reporting
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statem

designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectivene

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct 
misstatements, on a timely basis.  A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that 
will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness yet, important enough 
to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and 
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies.  Given these limitations, during our audit, we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that 
we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

5  

Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whet
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of 
our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of 
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

Purpose of this Report
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and 
the results of that testing, and not to
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards mpliance. Accordingly, this communication is not 
suitable for any other purpose. 

Raleigh, North Carolina 
October 22, 2020
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Net Position (in thousands)

Financial Trends

FY 
2020

FY 
2019

FY 
2018

FY 
2017

FY 
2016

FY 
2015

FY 
2014

FY 
2013

FY 
2012

FY 
2011

Net Investment in 
Capital Assets $433,327 $484,797 $529,512 $459,895 $584,359 $465,144 $383,233 $340,686 $327,909 $249,444

Restricted 175,209 108,567 7,476 5,477 4,267 3,487 2,616 1,712 - -

Unrestricted (256,137) (192,568) (186,924) (146,334) (170,889) (132,672) (109,079) (73,973) (76,272) (59,103)

Total Net Position $352,399 $400,796 $350,063 $319,038 $417,737 $335,960 $276,770 $268,425 $251,637 $190,340
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FY 2020 FY 2019 FY 2018

Operating Revenues

Charges for Services $51,951 $53,468 $49,142

Other Operating Revenues - 8 418

Total Operating Revenues 51,951 53,476 49,561

Operating Expenditures

Shared Operating 
Expenditures 12,320 12,058 -

Personnel Services 2,942 721 697

Supplies & Materials 110 23 1,288

Contracted Personnel 
Services 701 287 346

Travel 19 8 3

Advertising 13 73 93

Utilities 172 200 243

Dues & Subscription Fees - 1 24

Other Services 9,909 141 1,811

Other Expenditures 370 1,348 1,437

Transponder Purchases - - 448

Right of Way 162,486 325 6

Capital Outlay 170,510 11,399 15,128

Rental Expenditures 92 112 97

Total Operating 
Expenditures 359,644 26,694 21,621

Operating Income (Loss) (307,693) 26,781 27,939

Nonoperating Revenue 
(Expenditures) and Capital 
Grants

(51,321) (51,188) (49,782)

Capital Grants - - -

Transfers In 25,000 25,000 25,000

Excess of Revenue 
Over (Under) Expenditures $(334,014) $593 $3,157

Triangle Expressway (in thousands)

FY 2020 FY 2019 FY 2018

Operating Revenues

Charges for Services $22,866 $9,350 $-

Other Operating Revenues - 152 -

Total Operating Revenues 22,866 9,502 -

Operating Expenditures

Shared Operating 
Expenditures 5,850 2,792 -

Personnel Services 736 1,085 1,097

Supplies & Materials 126 34 9

Contracted Personnel 
Services 452 378 132

Travel 42 28 22

Advertising - 384 -

Utilities 47 36 2

Dues & Subscription Fees - - -

Other Services 650 29 -

Other Expenditures 95 65 717

Transponder Purchases - - -

Right of Way 5,431 13,652 14,587

Capital Outlay 23,943 27,834 73,692

Rental Expenditures 126 78 10

Total Operating 
Expenditures 37,495 46,395 90,268

Operating Income (Loss) (14,629) (36,893) (90,268)

Nonoperating Revenue 
(Expenditures) and Capital 
Grants

(28,166) (27,235) (27,446)

Capital Grants 76 112 115

Transfers In 24,000 24,000 24,000

Excess of Revenue 
Over (Under) Expenditures $(18,719) $(40,016) $(93,600)

Monroe Expressway (in thousands)

Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

FY 2020 FY 2019 FY 2018 FY 2017 FY 2016 FY 2015 FY 2014 FY 2013 FY 2012 FY 2011

Operating Revenues

Charges for Services $77,009 $63,987 $48,999 $44,708 $38,473 $30,218 $24,326 $13,038 $496 $0

Other Operating Revenues 5,414 1,168 648 812 675 491 399 462 169 -

Total Operating Revenues 82,424 65,155 49,648 45,520 39,148 30,709 24,725 13,500 665 0

Operating Expenses

Personnel Services 2,738 1,643 1,327 1,213 1,413 1,351 1,460 1,285 1,319 1,155

Supplies & Materials 277 70 73 281 73 86 150 124 245 17

Contracted Personnel Services 11,918 7,434 776 888 981 592 4,715 9,944 2,797 602

Travel 44 67 50 35 27 7 33 48 67 59

Advertising 419 574 124 49 104 - 41 0 - 23

Utilities 269 276 282 272 295 280 289 245 77 42

Dues & Subscription Fees 37 12 24 23 21 17 13 9 25 16

Other Services 15,278 5,317 3,814 4,965 3,121 4,746 2,363 1,608 2,039 1,663

Costs of Goods Sold 1,046 810 727 788 856 449 382 461 169 -

Capital Outlay 39,174 27,543 15,153 15,262 11,877 9,721 8,206 962 3,482 20

Rental Expense 205 176 108 66 88 191 142 113 107 183

Depreciation 29,684 24,035 16,130 16,130 16,130 16,130 16,130 9,931 1,870 15

Total Operating Expenses 101,090 67,957 38,588 39,972 34,986 33,569 33,924 24,732 12,197 3,796

Operating Income (Loss) (18,666) (2,802) 11,060 5,548 4,162 (2,859) (9,199) (11,232) (11,532) (3,796)

Nonoperating Revenue (Expenses) 
& Capital Grants (68,871) (24,803) (33,563) 103,562 (23,441) (31,112) (28,839) (24,486) 24,382 30,930

Transfers In 185,396 78,337 55,544 49,000 101,056 93,680 61,201 56,246 69,913 69,153

Transfers Out (146,255) - - (97,604) - (239) (14,817) (3,740) (2,746) -

Transfer of GARVEE Bonds to NC 
Highway Fund - - - (159,205) - - - - - -

Change in Net Position (48,396) 50,732 33,041 (98,699) 81,777 59,470 8,346 16,788 80,017 96,287

Net Position Beginning, July 1 400,796 350,063 319,038 417,737 335,960 276,770 268,425 251,637 190,340 94,054

Net Position, Restatement 
(GASB 75) - - (2,016) - - - - - - -

Cumulative Effect of Change in 
Accounting Principle - - - - - (280) - - - -

Cumulative Effect of GASB 65 - - - - - - - - (18,720) -

Net Position Ending, June 30 $352,399 $400,795 $350,063 $319,038 $417,737 $335,960 $276,770 $268,425 $251,637 $190,340

Turnpike Authority Fund (in thousands)
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Historical toll rates for Electronic Toll Collection (ETC) and Bill by Mail (BBM) transactions on the Triangle 
Expressway and Monroe Expressway are shown below. ETC tolls are paid electronically with a transponder. These 
tolls are automatically deducted from a prepaid account. BBM tolls are an alternative payment option for customers 
without a transponder. Cameras at toll zones capture an image of the vehicle's license plate, and an invoice is 
mailed to the registered owner of the vehicle.

CY 2020 CY 2019 CY 2018

ETC BBM ETC BBM ETC BBM

Class 1 $2.60  $4.01 $2.54  $3.92  $2.54  $3.92 

Class 2  $5.20  $8.02  $5.08  $7.84  $5.08  $7.84 

Class 3 $10.40 $16.04  $10.16 $15.68  $10.16 $15.68 

Vehicle Classifications

Class 1

Vehicles with 2 axles

Class 2

Vehicles with 3 axles 

Two times (2x) the Class 1 
vehicle toll rate

Class 3

Vehicles with 4 axles or more 

Four times (4x) the Class 1 
vehicle toll rate

Historical Toll Rates

Revenue Capacity
Triangle Expressway

FY 
2020

FY 
2019

FY 
2018

FY 
2017

FY 
2016

FY 
2015

FY 
2014

FY 
2013

FY 
2012

Transactions

Class 1 47,376,767 53,601,437 49,311,460 45,686,765 40,995,265 33,227,473 25,633,617   15,071,480      822,362 

Class 2 632,501 665,146 609,415 612,290 494,271 389,976 319,531        155,787          4,396 

Class 3 1,519,572 1,444,823 1,315,961 1,214,531 985,368 728,151 581,903 292,045          7,253 

Total 
Transactions 49,528,840    55,711,406 51,236,836 47,513,586 42,474,904 34,345,600 26,535,051  15,519,312      834,011 

ETC% 59.0% 59.4% 59.0% 58.6% 57.8% 58.0% 58.4% 54.2% 49.0%

Monroe Expressway

FY 2020 FY 2019

Transactions

Class 1     30,853,017     13,750,651 

Class 2          491,176          242,929 

Class 3       3,896,317       1,472,090 

Total 
Transactions     35,240,510     15,465,670 

ETC% 41.6% 35.4%
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CY 2020 CY 2019 CY 2018 CY 2017 CY 2016 CY 2015 CY 2014 CY 2013

ETC BBM ETC BBM ETC BBM ETC BBM ETC BBM ETC BBM ETC BBM ETC BBM

Class 1 $3.48  $5.33 $3.37  $5.17  $3.25  $4.97  $3.13  $4.81  $3.04  $4.65  $2.91  $4.45  $2.77  $4.23 $2.64 $4.04

Class 2  $6.96 $10.66  $6.74 $10.34  $6.50  $9.94  $6.26  $9.62  $6.08  $9.30  $5.82  $8.90  $5.54  $8.46 $5.28 $8.08

Class 3 $13.92 $21.32 $13.48 $20.68 $13.00 $19.88 $12.52 $19.24  $12.16 $18.60  $11.64 $17.80 $11.08 $16.92 $10.56 $16.16

Triangle Expressway

Monroe Expressway

Toll Transactions by Vehicle Classification

The Monroe Expressway was not fully open to traffic until FY 2019.

Full trip on the Monroe Expressway in one direction.
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The Triangle Expressway was not fully open to traffic until FY 2013. 

Full trip on the Triangle Expressway starting at N.C. 147 at I-40 to N.C. 55 Bypass in one direction.
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Triangle Expressway

FY 
2020

FY 
2019

FY 
2018

FY 
2017

FY 
2016

FY 
2015

FY 
2014

FY 
2013

FY 
2012

Toll Revenue

Class 1  $42,473,410  $44,168,564  $39,393,186 $35,035,869  $29,390,702  $22,966,154  $15,890,256  $8,031,318  $302,925 

Class 2  833,093 857,705 765,244 749,968 596,938 450,855 356,423 152,405  3,099 

Class 3  3,408,504 3,131,356 2,896,111 2,667,493 2,219,266 1,590,418 1,176,365 585,919  8,806 

Total Toll 
Revenue  $46,715,007  $48,157,626 $43,054,540 $38,453,330 $32,206,906  $25,007,426  $17,423,045  $8,769,643  $314,829 

Monroe Expressway

FY 2020 FY 2019

Toll Revenue

Class 1  $15,798,665  $4,603,112 

Class 2  314,402 165,392 

Class 3  2,804,494 1,105,095 

Total Toll 
Revenue  $18,917,561  $5,873,599 

Toll Revenue by Vehicle Classification

Triangle Expressway

FY 
2020

FY 
2019

FY 
2018

FY 
2017

FY 
2016

FY 
2015

FY 
2014

FY 
2013

FY 
2012

Toll Revenue

ETC $29,411,401  $30,212,428  $25,962,954  $23,281,139  $18,943,419  $14,380,539  $10,528,248  $5,198,163  $184,037 

BBM  17,303,606  17,945,198  17,091,586  15,172,191  13,263,486  10,626,887 6,894,796  3,571,479 130,792 

Total Toll 
Revenue  $46,715,007  $48,157,626 $43,054,540 $38,453,330 $32,206,906  $25,007,426  $17,423,045  $8,769,643  $314,829 

Monroe Expressway

FY 2020 FY 2019

Toll Revenue

ETC $9,675,890  $3,413,051 

BBM 9,241,671 2,460,548 

Total Toll 
Revenue $18,917,561  $5,873,599 

Toll Revenue by Payment Method
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Series FY 2020 FY 2019 FY 2018 FY 2017 FY 2016 FY 2015 FY 2014 FY 2013 FY 2012 FY 2011

Revenue Bonds

Senior Lien Revenue Bonds, 
Series 2009A $- $- $600 $600 $234,031 $233,965 $233,899 $233,833 $233,768 $233,702

Senior Lien Revenue Bonds, 
Series 2009B 35,173 35,173 35,173 35,150 35,042 35,032 35,022 35,012 35,002 34,992

Appropriation Revenue Bonds, 
Series 2009B 10,275 20,210 190,930 348,808 352,137 352,097 352,057 352,017 351,976 351,936

Senior Lien Revenue 
Refunding Bonds, Series 2017 207,324 215,317 220,974 226,527 - - - - - -

Appropriation Revenue 
Refunding Bonds, Series 
2018A

156,270 156,654 157,038 - - - - - - -

Senior Lien Revenue 
Refunding Bonds, Series 2018 426,292 428,793 - - - - - - - -

Appropriation Revenue 
Refunding Bonds, Series 
2018B

161,019 161,759 - - - - - - - -

Senior Lien Revenue Bonds, 
Series 2019 426,472 - - - - - - - - -

Appropriation Revenue Bonds, 
Series 2019 115,979 - - - - - - - - -

Note Payable

TIFIA Loan - - 372,877 372,877 372,877 372,877 372,877 372,877 283,508 264,596

Total Long-Term Debt as of 
June 30 $1,538,805 $1,017,906 $977,592 $983,961 $994,087 $993,971 $993,855 $993,739 $904,254 $885,226

Debt

Triangle Expressway (in thousands)

Debt Per FY 2020 FY 2019 FY 2018 FY 2017 FY 2016 FY 2015 FY 2014 FY 2013 FY 2012 FY 2011

Center Lane Mile $81,851 $54,144 $52,000 $52,338 $52,877 $52,871 $52,865 $52,858 - -

Lane Mile 13,642 9,024 8,667 8,723 8,813 8,812 8,811 8,810 - -

$ Operating Revenue1 29.62 19.03 19.72 21.62 25.39 32.37 40.20 - - -

Series FY 2020 FY 2019 FY 2018 FY 2017 FY 2016 FY 2015 FY 2014 FY 2013 FY 2012 FY 2011

Revenue Bonds

Appropriation Revenue Bonds, 
Series 2010A $233,920 $233,920 $233,920 $233,920 $233,920 $233,920 $233,920 $233,920 $233,920 $233,920

Appropriation Revenue Bonds, 
Series 2011 123,618 133,392 142,799 151,860 160,638 169,098 189,149 208,783 232,297 -

Senior Lien Revenue Bonds, 
Series 2011 - - - - 7,100 7,890 8,660 9,415 10,000 -

GARVEE Bonds, Series 2011 - - - - 153,259 154,782 156,288 157,778 159,251 -

Senior Lien Revenue Bonds, 
Series 2016 143,580 143,816 144,051 144,287 - - - - - -

Notes Payable

TIFIA Loan 166,500 120,000 - - - - - - - -

Total Long-Term Debt as of 
June 30 $667,618 $631,128 $520,770 $530,067 $554,917 $565,691 $588,017 $609,896 $635,467 $233,920

Monroe Expressway (in thousands)

1 Operating Revenue used in the debt ratio calculation is obtained from the debt coverage ratios in the table below.
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Debt Per FY 2020 FY 2019 FY 2018 FY 2017 FY 2016 FY 2015 FY 2014 FY 2013 FY 2012 FY 2011

Center Lane Mile $33,718 $31,875 - - - - - - - -

Lane Mile 8,430 7,969 - - - - - - - -

$ Operating Revenue2 29.20 - - - - - - - - -

Debt Coverage Ratios FY 2020 FY 2019 FY 2018 FY 2017 FY 2016 FY 2015 FY 2014 FY 2013 FY 2012 FY 2011

Senior Lien 5.38x - - - - - - - - -

Subordinate Lien 5.38x - - - - - - - - -

Debt Coverage Ratios FY 2020 FY 2019 FY 2018 FY 2017 FY 2016 FY 2015 FY 2014 FY 2013 FY 2012 FY 2011

Senior Lien 1.60x 2.35x 4.05x 4.34x 3.85x 3.22x 2.72x - - -

Junior Lien 1.60x 1.75x 1.62x 1.65x 1.54x 1.41x 2.71x - - -

2 Operating Revenue used in the debt ratio calculation is obtained from the debt coverage ratios in the table below.
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State of North Carolina

Demographic & Economic Information

Population1
Personal Income 

(dollars, seasonally 
adjusted)2

Per Capita Personal 
Income (dollars)3 Unemployment Rate

FY 2020 10,582,777 $540,565,900 $51,080 7.5%

FY 2019 10,474,366 $499,245,900 $47,664 4.0%

FY 2018 10,367,111 $477,559,900 $46,065 3.9%

FY 2017 10,253,775 $453,270,000 $44,205 4.4%

FY 2016 10,139,081 $431,829,500 $42,591 5.0%

FY 2015 10,019,210 $417,614,400 $41,681 5.9%

FY 2014 9,921,666 $395,238,600 $39,836 6.4%

FY 2013 9,831,260 $374,544,500 $38,097 8.1%

FY 2012 9,737,970 $379,135,900 $38,934 9.3%

FY 2011 9,647,003 $353,964,000 $36,692 10.4%

North Carolina's Ten Largest Private Employers

Rank 2020 2011

1 Wal-Mart Belk, Inc.

2 Duke University and Health System General Parts International, Inc.

3 Atrium Health (Including Carolina's Medical Center) SAS Institute Inc.

4 Wells Fargo Baker & Taylor, Inc.

5 Food Lion House of Raeford Farms

6 Bank of America VPS C-Store Holding, LLC.

7 Lowes Companies Inc. New NGC, Inc.

8 Spectrum (Charter Communications) Lord Corporation

9 Wake Forest Baptist Medical Center J.T. Davenport & Sons, Inc.

10 Harris Teeter (A Division of The Kroger Company) New Breed Logistics, Inc.

1 Mid-quarter population estimates by state are derived by BEA based on unpublished Census Bureau estimates of beginning-of-month population. Quarterly 
estimates for 2010-2020 reflect unpublished monthly population estimates available as of February 2020.

2 Seasonally adjusted at annual rates. All dollar estimates are in current dollars (not adjusted for inflation). Calculations are performed on unrounded data.

3 Per capita personal income is total personal income divided by total quarterly population estimates.

Sources: US Bureau of Economic Analysis, SQINC1 Personal Income Summary: Personal Income, Population, Per Capita Personal Income Table US Bureau of Labor 
Statistics, Local Area Unemployment Statistics, Unemployment Rate: North Carolina
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Source: US Census Bureau, NC Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis

Secondary Source: GrantThornton, Triad Business Journal, Charlotte Observer, WBTV, BizJournals, WRAL TechWire, Business North Carolina, BusinessNC
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North Carolina Employment by Sector

FY 2020 FY 2011

Industry Sector Average 
Employment Total Wages

Average 
Weekly 
Wage

Average 
Employment Total Wages

Average 
Weekly 
Wage

Agriculture, Forestry, 
Fishing and Hunting 25,553 $243,348,831 $732.57 29,138 $197,312,882 $520.89

Mining 3,203 $56,528,856 $1,357.74 3,034 $34,236,766 $868.03

Utilities 15,608 $468,560,926 $2,309.32 13,431 $243,343,867 $1,393.73

Construction 230,639 $3,261,084,056 $1,087.64 175,188 $1,765,104,666 $775.04

Manufacturing 471,617 $7,684,935,254 $1,253.45 434,252 $5,601,092,263 $992.17

Wholesale Trade 187,441 $4,023,105,000 $1,651.02 167,812 $2,465,878,073 $1,130.33

Retail Trade 500,813 $3,854,820,050 $592.09 444,342 $2,726,659,400 $472.03

Transportation and 
Warehousing 172,135 $2,281,897,768 $1,019.73 125,144 $1,358,894,385 $835.28

Information 77,048 $1,891,972,678 $1,888.90 69,487 $1,035,392,537 $1,146.20

Finance and Insurance 190,500 $6,861,783,289 $2,770.75 148,666 $2,462,432,626 $1,274.11

Real Estate and Rental and 
Leasing 60,670 $846,670,318 $1,073.49 47,710 $440,949,112 $710.95

Professional, Scientific, and 
Technical Services 272,870 $6,086,640,640 $1,715.85 188,417 $3,016,162,303 $1,231.38

Management of Companies 
and Enterprises 85,221 $3,298,760,502 $2,977.56 76,265 $1,541,397,495 $1,554.71

Administrative and Support 
and Waste Management and 
Remediation Services

295,515 $3,006,659,626 $782.64 250,147 $1,830,452,938 $562.89

Educational Services 399,798 $4,808,891,428 $925.25 379,604 $3,694,634,359 $748.68

Health Care and Social 
Assistance 637,089 $8,431,064,650 $1,017.98 554,492 $5,871,160,989 $814.49

Arts, Entertainment, and 
Recreation 72,498 $590,902,544 $626.97 64,357 $397,262,981 $474.83

Accommodation and Food 
Services 430,375 $1,980,384,825 $353.96 349,883 $1,280,805,961 $281.59

Other Services (except Public 
Administration) 117,612 $1,113,885,164 $728.53 95,718 $667,936,458 $536.78

Public Administration 248,214 $3,159,834,930 $979.25 238,088 $2,608,995,192 $842.93

Total of All Industries 4,494,419 $63,951,731,335 $1,094.55 3,855,173 $39,240,105,253 $782.97
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Source: Department of Commerce, Demand Driven Data Delivery (D4) System, Quarterly Census Employment and Wages, Data Industry Sector (2 digit) and Data 
Total (000000)



The North Carolina Turnpike Authority (NCTA) Maintenance Rating Program (MRP) was developed through a 
collaborative effort by NCTA managers, NCDOT maintenance staff, and consultants to monitor, manage, and 
proactively maintain NCTA's roadway assets. The roadway maintenance performance standards were created with 
the purpose of providing a clear and quantitative set of goals to ensure the facility meets customer expectations, 
as well as considerations unique to NCTA. 

The rating process consists of quarterly inspections that are conducted during the months of February, May, 
August, and November to account for dynamic changes in assets during each season. A randomly selected sample 
of maintenance characteristics is evaluated each quarter according to performance standard threshold criteria. 
These quarterly inspection results are shared with managers and maintenance providers to identify areas requiring 
additional resources and to prioritize maintenance operations. The annual rating score represents the percentage 
of assets inspected during the four quarterly inspections that are meeting the condition standards. The NCTA's 
overall target rating score is 90.

FY 2020 FY 2019 FY 2018 FY 2017 FY 2016 FY 2015 FY 2014 FY 2013 FY 2012 FY 2011

Capital Assets, 
Nondepreciable

Land & Permanent 
Easements $462,164 $294,274 $272,479 $258,835 $225,501 $174,891 $149,568 $144,959 $136,407 $110,998

Construction in 
Progress 302,513 137,809 777,310 672,436 444,350 262,926 206,617 165,157 692,691 578,364

Total Capital 
Assets, 
Nondepreciable

764,677 432,083 1,049,788 931,271 669,851 437,818 356,186 310,116 829,098 689,362

Capital Assets, 
Depreciable

Highway Network 1,534,469 1,534,469 806,486 806,486 806,486 806,486 806,486 806,486 185,794 -

Machinery & 
Equipment 25 33 60 60 60 60 60 80 80 80

Total Capital 
Assets, Depreciable 1,534,494 1,534,501 806,546 806,546 806,546 806,546 806,546 806,566 185,875 80

Less Accumulated 
Depreciation 

Highway Network 146,149 116,464 92,429 76,300 60,170 44,040 27,910 11,781 1,858 -

Machinery & 
Equipment 25 34 60 60 60 60 60 80 72 60

Total Accumulated 
Depreciation 146,174 116,498 92,489 76,360 60,230 44,100 27,971 11,861 1,930 60

Total Capital 
Assets, Depreciable, 
Net of Depreciation

1,388,320 1,418,003 714,057 730,186 746,316 762,446 778,576 794,705 183,945 21

Total Capital 
Assets, Net of 
Depreciation

$2,152,997 $1,850,086 $1,763,845 $1,661,457 $1,416,167 $1,200,264 $1,134,761 $1,104,822 $1,013,043 $689,383

Capital Assets (in thousands)

Operating Information NC Quick Pass Transponders Distributed

FY 2020 FY 2019 FY 2018 FY 2017 FY 2016 FY 2015 FY 2014 FY 2013 FY 2012

243,077 213,058 101,450 67,439 62,950 44,300 39,708 60,646 21,211

Triangle Expressway

CY 2019 CY 2018 CY 2017 CY 2016 CY 2015 CY 2014 CY 2013

93.0 94.7 91.8 94.2 93.2 89.3 94.2
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Maintenance Rating Program
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(919) 707-2700

North Carolina Turnpike Authority

ncdot.gov/turnpike

Keep 
North Carolina 
Moving




